, 63046564(E)

CA1 EA 96E24 DOCS

Education Linkages Between Canada and Australia:

An Examination of the Potential for Greater Student Flows

An Examination of the Potential for Greater Student Flows

Prepared for

The Government of Canada

by

Tim Mazzarol and Vicki Thein

International Education Research Program

Institute for Research into International Competitiveness Curtin Business School Curtin University of Technology GPO Box U1987, Perth WA 6000

and

Geoffrey Soutar

Dean, Faculty of Business Edith Cowan University Pearson Street, Churchlands WA 6018 Dept. of External Atlaine Min. des Alfaires extérieures

AUG 12 1997

RETURN TO DEPARTMENTAL LIBRARY RETCURNER A LA BIELIOTHECSE DU INNISTERE

December 1996

13-279-698

5

Table of Contents

	page
Executive summary	3
PART ONE: BACKGROUND AND METHODOLOGY	
Introduction	6
Objectives	6
The economic importance of international education	7
Canada and Australia as international Education suppliers	9
A comparison of Canadian and Australian education systems	10
Recent reforms to the Canadian and Australian education systems	11
r Enrolment of international students	13
National marketing efforts	15
A comparison of Canada's and Australia's competitiveness	18
The longer term outlook for Canada and Australia	21
Size and nature of the Australian education market	23
Opportunities for Australia in the Canadian market	27
Study methodology	29
PART TWO: THE AUSTRALIAN PERSPECTIVE	
General	. 31
Joint Promotion and Marketing	31
Study Abroad Programs	34
Joint Courses and Programs	35
Offshore Teaching Programs	38
Project Work	39
The CANZIEG Concept	40
Discussions with the AIEF and IDP Ltd	40
PART THREE: THE CANADIAN PERSPECTIVE	
General	43
Joint Promotion and Marketing	43
Study Abroad Programs	46
Joint Courses and Programs	48
Offshore Teaching Programs	50
Project Work	52
The CANZIEG Concept	54
PART FOUR: THE STUDENT PERSPECTIVE	
Introduction	57
Focus group discussions	57
Student Survey	60
PART FIVE: THE POLICY IMPLICATIONS	
Introduction	65
Compete or Collaborate ?	65
Future action required	67
References	68

Institute for Research into International Competitiveness (IRIC) Curtin Business School, Curtin University of Technology GPO Box U1987, Perth WA 6001. Tel: (09) 351-2843, Fax: (09) 351-2872.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Introduction

This study examines the opportunities for enhanced collaboration between Canada and Australia in the area of international education. Funded by the Canadian Department of Foreign Affairs and International Trade (DFAIT), the project aims to determine whether, in Australia, there is a potential market for Canada as an education destination. In seeking to answer this question the study explores the size and nature of the Australian international education industry; assesses the willingness of Canadian and Australian institutions to collaborate in joint marketing and supply initiatives; and considers the policy implications of this.

The study involved four distinct components. In the first stage a review of the literature was undertaken to assess the size and nature of the Australian and Canadian international education industries. During the second stage a series of in-depth interviews were conducted with a range of education institutions in Australia at all levels. The third stage involved a survey of Canadian colleges and universities to gather comment from that country on the proposals generated during the first stage. In the final stage, a survey of international and domestic students was conducted in institutions throughout Australia. The findings from these four stages were:

Assessment of the Australian and Canadian industries

Canada and Australia are key suppliers of international education. However, over the past decade Canada's share of international students has declined relative to Australia's. The causes of this decline appear to be related to a lack of coordination in Canada's international marketing effort. Australia also appears to have a competitive advantage in its geographic proximity to many South East Asian markets. Over the longer term Canada is likely to regain some its lost market share from Australia by adopting a more professional and nationally coordinated marketing campaign.

There are over 80,000 international students studying in Australia. Thirty-one percent are enrolled in private colleges and there is a potential pool of some 32,000 international students who have not yet enrolled in an Australian university and may choose to relocate to Canada given sufficient inducement.

Australia also hosts 5.4 million students and sends over 5,000 overseas for full time study, primarily in the United States. Many of these students complete undergraduate degree programs in America and pay fees. Canada may be able to attract a larger proportion of this group than it currently does if suitable marketing strategies were undertaken.

Canada may also attract a sizeable number of Australia post-graduate students. The median course fees for post-graduate programs in Canada are substantially lower than in Australia. With Australia's universities now shifting towards charging full-fees for post-graduate course work Masters and Doctorates, it is possible that Canada might become attractive to the 15,000 Australian students who undertake such programs.

\$

For Australian institutions, Canada is a potentially attractive market as well. Over 27,000 Canadians study overseas each year, mostly in the United States and Britain. Australian institutions such as the University of Western Sydney have already begun to recruit sizeable numbers of Canadian students. Enhanced marketing of Australian education in Canada is capable of attracting a large proportion of these students to Australia.

Discussions with Australian institutions

Discussions were held with 31 education institutions and representative agencies in Australia. Despite some hesitation the general response from the Australian industry was positive. Six key initiatives were produced from these discussions:

- 1. Joint Promotion and Marketing collaborative efforts to jointly market or promote international education to prospective students;
- 2. Study Abroad Programs enhancement of study abroad programs to provide scope for commercially viable short course exchanges of fee paying international students;
- 3. Joint Courses and Programs collaboration between Australian and Canadian institutions to run joint courses that would be accredited by both countries;
- 4. Offshore Teaching Programs joint ventures between institutions in Canada and Australia to establish offshore teaching programs in targeted third countries;
- 5. **Project Work** collaboration between Canada and Australia to form consortia to target large scale World Bank or Asian Development Bank projects in education and training;
- 6. The CANZIEG Concept a three country forum involving Canada, Australia and New Zealand to exchange information, agree on accreditation and visa regulations and build a foundation for future cooperation in the field of international education.

A survey of Canadian institutions

Following the discussions with the Australian institutions a survey was sent to 169 Canadian universities and colleges. A total of 77 useable responses were returned. Respondents were asked to consider each of the six initiatives suggested in the discussions with the Australian industry and indicate their willingness to participate. The responses are summarised below:

	Initiative	supportive	<u>uncertain</u>	un-supportive
	Willing to disseminate information on Australia to own students	90.2%	2.0%	7.8%
•	Consider promoting via private Australian providers for a fee Willing to undertake joint	51.0%	33.3%	15.7%
•	promotion with Australia	52.9%	29.4%	17.6%

Institute for Research into International Competitiveness (IRIC)

Curtin Business School, Curtin University of Technology

GPO Box UI987, Perth WA 6001. Tel: (09) 351-2843, Fax: (09) 351-2872.

zutration mikages between Canada and Austrana		
39.7%	1.4%	58.9%
94.4%	1.4%	2.8%
· ·		
80.4%	11.8%	5.9%
76.5%	9.8%	13.7%
· · · ·		
80.4%	15.7%	3.9%
73.5%	22.4%	4.1%
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,		
	39.7% 94.4% 80.4% 76.5%	39.7%1.4%94.4%1.4%80.4%11.8%76.5%9.8%80.4%15.7%

A survey of students

Education linkages between Canada and Australia

In the final stage of this project a series of focus groups and a survey of 879 students was conducted in universities and colleges throughout Australia. Fifty-three per cent of the sample were international students. The results from these discussions and survey suggest that Canada is not well known by the international students who come to Australia. Many view it as a country that is more expensive than Australia and possessed of a much harsher climate.

Just over half the sample indicated that they wished to continue on to further study upon completion of their current program. Seventy per cent of the international students and 61 per cent of the Australian students indicated that they would consider doing so in another country. For the majority, the United States followed by the United Kingdom were their main preferences. Canada ranked third.

The response by the students to the various study initiatives outlined in this study was positive. Study abroad programs and joint courses offered by both Australia and Canada were viewed with strong interest.

Policy implications

The study suggests that there is a high level of support for enhanced collaboration between Canadian and Australian education institutions in the field of international education. Further, this support is mirrored by the international and domestic students surveyed in Australia.

Canada and Australia have the opportunity to collaborate in developing a framework that can offer a truly global international education experience for students from their own countries and third country nationals. Achieving this will require commitment from individual institutions to participate in such joint initiatives. There will need to be a willingness to suspend the current mood of competition and seek genuine cooperation if this is to be realised. A degree of leadership is likely to be required at a national level by government agencies in both countries.

PART ONE: BACKGROUND AND METHODOLOGY

Introduction

International education has emerged as a major export industry for the Canadian economy. Although Canada has been a leading supplier of international education for many decades, its position has been challenged by the emergence during the 1980's of new supplier countries. One of the most rapidly developing suppliers has been Australia, which grew its international student population from 7,525 in 1970, to 69,819 in 1994 (DEET, 1994; DEET, 1995; DEET, 1996). Australia draws most of its students from the Asia-Pacific and therefore competes directly with Canada for the same markets.

The emergence of Australia as a major supplier of international education in Canada's traditional markets has generated an interest in determining whether an opportunity exists for marketing Canadian education in Australia. Despite long standing bilateral exchange programs between Canadian and Australian institutions, the commercial opportunities for fee paying students within the Australian market have not been fully explored.

This study examines the opportunities for enhanced interaction between Canada and Australia in the field of international education. It draws upon the findings of a series of in-depth interviews with academic and administrative staff at universities, colleges and schools throughout Australia and focus groups with their students. Additional input was provided by a survey of Canadian universities and colleges and a separate survey of international and domestic students studying in Australia.

The study was conducted by the Institute for Research into International Competitiveness (IRIC) of the Curtin Business School, Curtin University of Technology, Perth, Western Australia, in association with Curtin Consultancy Servicess Pty Ltd and BIZTRAC, the commercial arm of the Faculty of Business at Edith Cowan University. It was commissioned by the Canadian Department of Foreign Affairs and International Trade (DFAIT) via the Canadian High Commission in Canberra.

Objectives

The primary objective of this study was to "determine whether, in Australia, there is a potential market for Canada as an education destination". In achieving this objective the following enabling objectives were considered:

- 1. Determine the size, nature and potential of key segments within the Australian market. specifically:
 - a) undergraduate international students seeking post-graduate education overseas;
 - b) undergraduate Australian students seeking post-graduate education overseas;

1.1

Institute for Research into International Competitiveness (IRIC) Curtin Business School, Curtin University of Technology GPO Box U1987, Perth WA 6001. Tel: (09) 351-2843, Fax: (09) 351-2872.

- c) other key segments such as international ELICOS and TAFE students seeking further education.
- 2. Assess the willingness of Australian education institutions to collaborate with Canadian institutions in joint marketing and supply initiatives.
- 3. Assess the willingness of Canadian education institutions to collaborate with Australian institutions in joint marketing and supply initiatives.
- 4. Consideration of the policy implications for the development of joint marketing and supply initiatives.

The Economic Importance of International Education

The economic importance of international education is well recognised by most countries, although the level of impact differs from one host nation to another. For example, while the United States is host to some two thirds of the world's international students, they comprise a relatively small proportion of its total student population. Table 1.1 shows the relative importance of international students to selected host nations as measured by Unesco statistics in 1993.

Host country	Foreign enrolment	Total enrolment	% of total enrolment
United States	449,749	14,473,106	3.1%
France	139,562	2,074,591	6.7%
Germany†	116,474	2,033,702	5.7%
United Kingdom	95,594	1,528,389	6.2%
Australia	42,415	575,617	7.4%
Canada	35,451	874,604	4.0%

Table 1.1: International student and total enrolments in major ex	porter nations 1993*
---	----------------------

* All figures for higher education only. † Figures for West Germany in 1991.

Source: (Unesco, 1996)

ĸ

What is noticeable about Table 1.1 is the relative importance of international students to each of the six host countries. Although fewer international students study in the United Kingdom than the United States, they comprise a considerably higher proportion of total enrolments in the UK than the US. Australia's universities are host to a substantially larger proportion of international students to domestic ones than either the United States or Canada. Given the rapid increase in overseas student enrolments within Australian universities and other institutions since the early 1990s the relative importance of international education to Australia has grown.

The United States, which attracts the majority of the world's international students, has estimated that its universities and colleges generated a trade surplus of US\$6 billion in 1993 comprising about 10 per cent of the total U.S. services trade surplus (Evans, 1995). In addition to the revenues generated directly from tuition fees, a

further US\$3.6 billion is injected into the United States economy from international student spending on accommodation, food and other items (Scott, 1995).

The value of international education to the United Kingdom has been estimated at $\pounds716$ million, making it twice as large as coal or gas exports, and more valueable than many of Britain's manufacturing sectors. On average Britain's universities are generating between 2 and 5 per cent of their recurrent income from non-European Union international students (Greenaway and Tuck, 1996).

In Australia international education has emerged as one of the country's most important export industries. The official value of export income in 1995 from overseas students within Australia was A\$1.9 billion. Education exports now account for 9 per cent of Australia's total service exports, compared with less than 3 per cent in 1985. After tourism and transportation it represented the third most important sector of all services exports which have experienced growth rates of 16.6 per cent over the past two decades (LEK, 1994).

Direct estimates of the level of financial dependence of Australia's education institutions upon international student fees are difficult to obtain. Based on DEET statistics the average full fee paying overseas student (FFPOS) studying for a Bachelor's Degree spends A\$11,705 per annum on course fees (DEET, 1996). This would mean that an institution such as the Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology which enrolled 4,431 international students during 1995, is generating some A\$52 million in annual revenues from international education. Monash University which enrolled 4,929 international students during 1995 would be generating around A\$58 million per year. Such revenues make even the largest of Australia's government funded institutions heavily dependent on FFPOS revenues.

Just how dependent the Australian education sector is upon international education is difficult to assess. Discussions directly with Australian universities, Technical And Further Education (TAFE) Colleges and private post-secondary colleges suggest that any loss of FFPOS revenues would result in revenue shortfalls worth millions of dollars plus the shedding of hundreds of staff (Mazzarol and Soutar, 1996). Australia's competitiveness as a supplier of international education is therefore important not just as a useful source of overseas revenues, but may be critical to the long term financial health of a substantial part of that country's education infrastructure.

Canada has also found international education to be economically beneficial. Commencing in 1970 some Provincial governments introduced differential fees for international and domestic students. This pattern spread throughout the 1980's (Woodhall, 1987). By 1991 Canada was host to around 3 per cent of the world's international students, who contributed some C\$1.5 billion to the Canadian economy and generated an estimated 19,000 jobs (MSS, 1993). The benefit to Canada of international education over the next 30 years - even assuming modest growth rates of 2.2 per cent - could be the creation of over 25,000 jobs (Humphries and Ramezani, 1996).

Institute for Research into International Competitiveness (IRIC) Curtin Business School, Curtin University of Technology GPO Box U1987, Perth WA 6001. Tel: (09) 351-2843, Fax: (09) 351-2872.

Canada and Australia as International Education Suppliers

In 1993 Australia and Canada were ranked respectively seventh and eighth out of the top fifty countries that supply international education, after the United States, France, Germany, the United Kingdom, Russia and Japan (Unesco, 1996). Figure 1.1 shows these eight leading supplier countries who take the majority of international students (56% in 1993).

The dominance of the United States can be seen in Figure 1.1, with the other major suppliers such as France and Germany, attracting significant numbers by comparison with Australia and Canada. It should be noted, however, that despite the overall size of foreign student enrolments to France, Germany, Russia and Japan, these countries are not teaching in English to any large degree. As such they do not attract the same type of student as do the English language suppliers. With most Asian students seeking to study English language programs it is the United States and United Kingdom that pose the major competitive threat to Australian and Canadian international education.



Source: (Unesco, 1996)

Fig 1.1: Leading Host Nations in International Education

Since the mid-1980's Canada has experienced a decline in its relative position as a host nation, slipping slightly behind Australia in terms of the number of international students it hosts. During the same period Australia enjoyed a rapid expansion of its international student enrolments, shifting its education sector from a scholarship focused "aid oriented" approach, to a commercial full-fee paying system. Within such South East Asian markets as Singapore, Malaysia and Indonesia, Australian international education has secured a large market share.

Institute for Research into International Competitiveness (IRIC) Curtin Business School, Curtin University of Technology GPO Box U1987, Perth WA 6001. Tel: (09) 351-2843, Fax: (09) 351-2872.

A comparison of Canadian and Australian education systems

Canada and Australia both have somewhat devolved education systems. The Canadian education system is comprised of differing regional systems, with ten provincial and two territory governments each managing its own schools structure (APEC, 1994:6-7). Within Australia there are nine legislative authorities (six states, two territories and one federal) administering eight separate public education systems and a system of private schools and colleges (ABS, 1992:16).

Canada has some 90 universities or equivalent institutions capable of issuing undergraduate and post-graduate degrees. Around 70 per cent of these institutions grant their own degrees, while the others are theological colleges which do not grant degrees (CICIC, 1996:4). In 1996 the University of Toronto was the largest institution in Canada with just over 50,000 students. Other large universities were the *Universite' de Montreal* with around 50,000 and the University of Ottawa, with over 24,000 students (CICIC, 1996). International students seeking access to Canada's universities must usually complete language and academic entrance tests set by each institution. Quota's also apply to specific high demand programs such as medicine.

In addition to its universities, Canada also maintains a system of Community Colleges along similar lines to that of the United States (APEC, 1994). Such institutions provide vocational programs lasting two to three years and leading to diplomas in professional and technical fields like art, fisheries, paramedical technology and agriculture. The province of Quebec also operates a system of *Colleges d'enseignement general et professional* (CEGEPs) which parallel the community colleges. In 1996 there were over 200 community colleges in Canada (CICIC, 1996).

The Canadian Community College system is more vocationally oriented than the United States College system and provides direct employment outcomes. It is largely funded by the Provincial Governments who provide between 45 and 95 per cent of college funding depending on the institution. In recent years the level of government financial support for the Colleges has reduced. The size and scope of Canada's Community Colleges varies. For example, in 1995 *Le College des Grands Lacs*, Ontario had 220 full time students studying at 5 campuses. By contrast, the George Brown College, Toronto, had 20,000 full time students studying in 160 programs and 45,000 part time students in 700 further education programs (Giles, 1996).

Australia's higher education institutions are self-governing, although the majority of Australia's universities are largely funded by Commonwealth grants. Australia has 48 degree granting institutions including 35 public universities, two private universities (Bond University, University of Notre Dame), and the Australian Catholic University (with sites in six states), the Australian Defence Force Academy (which is a campus of the University of NSW) and some institutes and university colleges. The size of Australia's universities range from relatively large institutions located in the capital cities of each state, to smaller regional institutions. One of the largest is Monash University, which in 1993/94 had 36,467 students and 2,333 academic and research staff. By comparison, one of the smaller universities is the Victoria University of Technology (VUT). Established in 1991 it offers both degree programs and vocational courses leading to certificate and diploma qualifications. In 1994 VUT had

total student enrolments of 16,500 of whom 13,755 were enrolled at university level and 2,745 at TAFE. The university also employed 2,794 staff who were divided into university and TAFE sectors. The university sector had 624 academic and 592 nonacademic staff, while the TAFE sector had 89 academic and 52 non-academic staff.

Australia has no Community Colleges, but operates a national vocational education and training system. This is comprised of both public and private providers. Each state and territory government funds a system of Technical and Further Education (TAFE) Colleges. Each TAFE College has its own Chief Executive Officer, who answers to the state or territory Minister for Education or Training.

In 1990 there were 684 TAFE institutions in Australia with enrolments in excess of 1.8 million students (ABS, 1992:23). The majority of TAFE students (65%) were enrolled in vocational courses. Other post-secondary education is conducted on a private basis and is funded by fees (ABS, 1992:17). These institutions include theological colleges, private business and commercial colleges, English language colleges and flying training schools. Mostly privately owned and operated it is difficult to obtain details on these institutions. In 1993 they enrolled an estimated 6,260 students of whom 70 per cent were studying at privately owned centres (DEET, 1994).

Recent reforms to the Canadian and Australian education systems

Over the past ten years a variety of educational reforms and reviews have been undertaken within both Canada and Australia. In Canada many of these reforms have focused on the needs of primary and secondary schools (APEC, 1994:6-7). Australia has undertaken wide sweeping reforms throughout all levels of education, driven either by state or federal government initiatives.

During the 1980's the Australian Federal Government initiated a major reform of the Australian higher education system. This involved the removal of what was called the "binary system" which included Universities, Colleges of Advanced Education (CAEs) and Institutes of Technology. These latter institutions were diploma and degree granting institutions which had emerged during the 1970's. The reforms led to the establishment of a Unified National System (UNS in which all institutions were to be placed on an equal footing, with Federal Government funding and access to research grants through the Australian Research Council. Until this time universities had been obtaining most of the country's research funds (Williams, 1988).

The end result of this reform process was the merger of many CAEs and the establishment of a number of new universities throughout the country. A further reform was the introduction of the Higher Education Contribution Scheme (HECS) to ease the burden on the Australian fiscal system (Hogbin, 1988:54). The effect of these reforms can be gauged by the fact that where there had been 70 higher education institutions in Australia in 1986, by 1991 there were only 35 (ABS, 1992:22).

In 1993 the Australian higher education system catered for some 964,159 students and employed an estimated 27,780 teaching and research staff (Unesco, 1996). The size of Australia's higher education institutions has also grown significantly. Whereas the

average student enrolments for each institution in 1986 was 5,400, this figure had risen to 15,000 per institution by 1991 (ABS, 1992). In the four most populous states of NSW, Victoria and Queensland, the average number of student enrolments per institution was 28,454 in 1991 (ABS, 1992).

Canada enjoys one of the highest education participation rates in the world (Unesco, 1996). In 1994 Canadian government spending on education totalled C\$56.5 billion, of which 62 per cent was allocated to primary and secondary levels, 20 per cent to higher education and 17 per cent to technical and vocational education (CICIC, 1996). A comparison of Australia and Canada in terms of their national education infrastructure is revealing. Table 1.2 illustrates the differences between Australia and Canada in educational expenditure, student enrolments and pupil-teacher ratios using Unesco estimates from 1992/1993.

Item	Canada	Australia
Public expenditure on education (1993):		
\$US per capita:	\$1,456	\$ 914
World ranking out of 46 countries:	7th	16th
Secondary school enrolment (1992):		
% of 12-17 year olds enrolled full time:	104%*	82%
World ranking out of 46 countries:	4th	25th
Higher education enrolment (1992):		
% of 20-24 year olds enrolled full time:	99%	40%
World ranking out of 46 countries:	1st	10th
Pupil-Teacher ratio (1st level) (1993):		
Number of pupils per teacher:	17	17
World ranking out of 46 countries:	17th	17th
Pupil-Teacher ratio (2nd level) (1993):		. '
% of 20-24 year olds enrolled full time:	16	12
World ranking out of 46 countries:	26th	12th
Overall effectiveness of the education system (1996):		
World ranking out of 46 countries:	20th	15th

school age.

source: (World Economic Forum, 1996)

From Table 1.2 it can be seen that Canada spends more per capita than Australia on its education system and enjoys higher levels of student participation rates. Despite this the Australian education system was ranked by the World Competitiveness Report in 1996 as more likely to meet the needs of a competitive economy than that of Canada.

Further examination of the enrolments and retention rates within the two countries education systems reveals a slightly different picture to that reflected in the initial statistics shown in Table 1.2. According to Windshuttle (1988), the lower retention rates in Australian secondary schools reflect the shift of students out of high schools and into TAFE Colleges and related vocational education and training (VET) programs. Unlike Australia, Canada has no national VET system and therefore retains its students longer in both senior high school and higher education institutions. If adjustments are made to the enrolments to take into consideration these differences, Australia's education retention rates become similar to those of Canada's in the school area, and Australia actually enrols more tertiary students than Canada as a proportion of its population.

Enrolment of international students

In 1993 there were 35,451 international students studying in Canada, representing around 3 per cent of the world total (Unesco, 1996). Canada draws the largest proportion of its international students from Asia, particularly Hong Kong. In 1993 Asian students comprised around 48 per cent of total international enrolments, this figure was 43.5 per cent in 1991, with Hong Kong and China comprising 53 per cent of all Asian students (Unesco, 1996).



Source: (Unesco, 1996)

Figure 1.2: International student flows to Canada and Australia 1980-1993

During the mid-1980's Canada's enrolments of international students fell. This may be attributed to the introduction of tuition fees for international students throughout the provinces and the more aggressive marketing being undertaken by countries such as Australia and the United Kingdom. Enrolments climbed during the late 1980's, only to decline again during the early 1990's. Figure 1.2 shows the flow of Canada's international students over the period from 1980 to 1993. It can be seen that growth

rates during the early 1990's were poor, resulting in an overall decline in total international student enrolments.

As illustrated in Figure 1.2 the opening up of the Australian education sector to fullfee paying overseas students (FFPOS) during the mid-1980's led to a dramatic expansion of that country's international education sector. In 1970 there were some 7,525 international students studying in Australia (Unesco, 1992), the majority of whom were either fully or partially sponsored by government aid programs (Industry Commission, 1991:17). By 1986 there were 22,533 international students in Australia of whom 20 per cent were FFPOS (Harris and Jarrett, 1990).

Following a decade of active marketing by Australian education institutions supported by both Federal and State Government agencies, by 1995 there were 80,722 international students enrolled in Australian institutions of whom 93 per cent were FFPOS (DEET, 1996). This very significant growth in overseas student numbers contrasts with the relative decline of international student flows to Canada during the same period.

The commercialisation of international education during the 1980's was also taking place in the United Kingdom. In 1978 there were some 90,000 international students studying in Britain primarily at university level (Williams, 1987). Faced with an estimated cost of £100 million per annum in subsidies for these students the British Government announced an introduction of full-fees from 1979 onwards (Williams, 1987). Following an initial decline in international student enrolments during the mid-1980's (Kinnell, 1989), British institutions commenced a coordinated campaign of overseas recruitment in order to make up revenue shortfalls (Moore, 1989). Where once international students had been treated as a fact of life, suddenly they were the target of well organised marketing campaigns (Woodhall, 1989).

Direct competition from countries such as Australia and the United Kingdom are likely to have influenced the overall decline in international student flows to Canada from many key Asian markets. Table 1.3 lists the main countries of Asia in terms of the actual number of foreign students as well as their 'sending rates'. These 13 countries account for more than one third of the entire foreign student population and for over 80 per cent of the foreign students from Asia. The sending rate is calculated by dividing the number of foreign students by the domestic pool of students in higher education. While China easily accounts for the largest number of foreign students because of its enormous population, its sending rate is quite modest compared with the high sending rates of countries such as Hong Kong, Taiwan and Malaysia.

Table 1.3 also shows the population of foreign students sent to both Canada and Australia. For Canada the most important market is Hong Kong, with Singapore and Taiwan in second and third place. By comparison Australia attracts a much higher proportion of students from Asia, particularly Singapore and Malaysia. Although these figures are from 1993, estimates from Australian visa issuing authorities suggest that Australia may have secured the dominant position in the Indonesian market in 1995/96 ahead of even the United States¹. The close geographic proximity of

11

¹ Based on visa counts by the AIEF in Jakarta compared to visa counts of other supplier nations.

Institute for Research into International Competitiveness (IRIC)

Curtin Business School, Curtin University of Technology GPO Box U1987, Perth WA 6001. Tel: (09) 351-2843, Fax: (09) 351-2872.

Australia to many of the South East Asian countries, combined with a "value for money" education product, has enabled Australia to rival the United States as the country of first choice for many Asian students.

Country	No. of Foreign Students	Sending Rate*	% sent to Australia	% sent to Canada
China	126,875	5.36	2.1	2.6
Japan	55,145	1.87	1.2	1.4
Korea	49,665	2.60	1.4	0.5
Taiwan†	50,000	22.73	7.8	6.1
India	43,205	0.94	1.1	2.4
Malaysia	34,397	22.10	22.8	4.1
Hong Kong	34,225	27.79	19.8	16.8
Iran	30,639	9.48	1.9	3.4
Turkey	28,911	3.06	0.1	0.4
Indonesia	19,911	1.00	13.6	2.5
Jordan	15,504	14.91	0.0	` 0.6
Singapore	13,556	12.63	39.6	7.2
Thailand	12,909	1.10	6.7	1.4

 Table 1.3: Main Asian Countries Sending Tertiary Students to Australia and Canada

 1993

*The sending rate is defined as the number of foreign students as a proportion of total domestic enrolment

† Figures for Taiwan are based on estimates (not included in Unesco data)

Source: (Unesco, 1996).

Canada's relative decline in international student enrolments has been attributed to a lack of national coordination and professionalism in marketing. Recent fee increases in Ontario have been blamed along with the preferential fees charged to European Union students by the United Kingdom (Humphries and Ramezani, 1996). Although Canada has a high quality education product to offer the world, its geography is against it. Australia is closer to Asia, Britain is closer to Europe and Canada is too close to the United States. For these reasons Canada cannot afford to be complacent, nor can it ignore the need for a well managed nationally coordinated marketing effort.

National marketing efforts

The Canadian education system is viewed as flexible and enables a "fast tracking" of high school education for suitably qualified students. Singaporean students, for example, have been able to complete secondary level programs for entry into Canadian universities within six months of arrival (Smart and Ang, 1992:26). Canada's location within the North American socio-economic "hub" of western commerce and industry, its bilingual education system (English and French), high quality education and sophisticated economy should combine to position it as a major provider of international education. Despite this Canada has been unable to attract the same proportion of Asian students as Australia.

Part of the reason for this may lie with the overall level of coordination in marketing of Canadian education in overseas markets. Canada's central government has only limited involvement in education and it is likely that this has impeded the country's ability to coordinate its national effort. Marketing on an international level among Canadian universities has been described as "ad hoc" (DEET, 1993). Until the 1990s overseas promotion at a national level was the responsibility of Academic Relations Officers located within the Canadian diplomatic posts who are assisted by locally engaged staff. During the mid-1990s Canada established a series of Canadian Education Centres (CECs) throughout key Asia-Pacific markets.

This network of CECs is managed by the Asia-Pacific Foundation of Canada (APFC), an independent, non-profit organisation which was established in 1984 under an Act of Parliament (APFC, 1996). In 1996 the APFC had a budget of C\$5.5 million and a staff of 45 and was headquartered in Vancouver, British Columbia. Other examples of coordinated marketing efforts can be found at the Provincial level. The British Colombia Centre for International Education (BCCIE) is one of the more successful cases. Established in 1990 with funding from the Provincial Government, the BCCIE coordinates marketing for the Province's universities, community colleges and other education institutions taking international students. As a result of the efforts of the BCCIE the annual growth in international student enrolments to British Columbia as been 25 per cent since 1987 (BCCIE, 1996).

Education policy in Canada is dominated by provincial rather than federal government authority. There is considerable variation in fee setting policy for international students in Canada due to the provincial government structure (Davis, 1995). In 1995 annual fees ranged from C\$2,500 for undergraduate Arts degree programs, to C\$13,700 for Engineering courses (CICIC, 1996:7). Such variation in fees also appears to be common within the Community College sector (Gale, 1995; Giles, 1996). The impact of this confusion of fee setting policy has been subject to some debate. While some like Humphries and Ramezani (1996) have called for a more consistent fee setting policy, others have dismissed the impact of differences in fee setting on international student recruitment as minimal (MSS, 1993:19).

The marketing of Australian international education has largely been the responsibility of individual institutions, although a variety of Federal and State Government agencies also provide promotion and marketing support. Since 1994 the Australian International Education Foundation (AIEF) has sought to provide strategic coordination of the Australian industry's marketing efforts. The AIEF manages the Australian Education Centres (AECs). These Centres were opened in 1990 in Hong Kong, Kuala Lumpur, Jakarta, Singapore, Seoul, Taipei, Bangkok, Suva, and Manila (DEET, 1993). In 1996 the AIEF established additional AECs in Brunei, Tokyo and New Delhi, and had representatives in the Gulf States, Western Europe and North America.

Other agencies active in the field of international marketing of Australian education are the International Development Program of Australian Universities and Colleges (IDP Ltd.), the Australian Trade Commission (AUSTRADE), and various state and territory based organisations.

Within the university sector the most significant of these has been the IDP Education Australia Ltd. Established in 1969 by the Australian Vice Chancellor's Committee (AVCC) the IDP was originally aimed at supporting higher education institutions in the Asia-Pacific region with aid. During the mid 1980's the IDP began to focus more upon marketing education, and in 1988 was incorporated into a non-profit company owned by the AVCC and the Commonwealth Government (DEET, 1993). The IDP Education Australia Ltd has been highly successful in recruiting international students for Australian higher education. It acts as a recruitment agent and also undertakes the management of Education Trade Fairs in selected overseas markets throughout the year. IDP offices are located in most Asian capitals from where Australia draws its students.

Prior to 1994 the AEC network was managed by the IDP who used them for both promotion and recruitment purposes. Designed as "one stop shops", the AECs were supposed to offer advice and information to prospective students while also arranging promotion and recruitment. Although similar in concept to the British Council or United States Information Agency (USIA) offices, the AECs did not receive sufficient funding to cover their operating costs and charged service fees. This policy of charging prospective students for services was contrary to the practices of USIA or the British Council. It was also viewed by some as projecting a negative image of Australian international education (Carruthers, 1993).

During 1991, for example, the AEC in Singapore was charging students an administrative fee of A\$50 to complete visa applications, while the same service was available free from the Australian High Commission (Smart and Ang, 1992:28). Concern was also expressed over AEC staff being remunerated from commissions for recruitment and the potential conflict of interests this might pose (Marshall and Smart, 1991).

To address such issues the Australian Federal Government announced a continuation of the move for the "internationalisation of education", but with the aim of shifting the industry focus to "a more mature position, away from narrow economic perspective's" (Beasley, 1992). During 1993 the role of the AECs was reviewed (DEET, 1993). By December of that year the Australian International Education Foundation (AIEF) was established (Beasley, 1993).

In addition to the international promotion and marketing efforts of federal agencies the Australian State Governments also undertake independent activities. One of the more active states is Western Australia, which has placed WA Education Officers (WAEOs) in selected international markets since the mid-1980's. In 1993 WAEOs were located in Singapore, Hong Kong and Kuala Lumpur within the Western Australian Government's Trade and Investment Offices in each city (DCT, 1993 :43). More recently an office has been opened in India.

Since 1991 the WAEOs have been under the control of the WA Department of Commerce and Trade (DOCAT), and undertake a marketing function for Western Australian education institutions. Staffed by locals they generate revenue by charging registration and counselling fees and from commissions for student recruitment (DCT, 1993 :44). As they operate in parallel with the AECs, a degree of competition has arisen. Unlike the AECs the WAEOs cannot process visa applications, which tends to favour the AEC (Smart and Ang, 1992:28). The AECs have been criticised by WA education institutions for charging excessive fees and demonstrating a bias towards eastern states institutions (DCT, 1993 :46).

A Comparison of Canada's and Australia's competitiveness

Although the main focus of this report is to identify areas for future cooperation between the two countries, it is worth considering how Australia and Canada compare as rivals. It should be apparent to most observers from this process that the two countries have more to gain from cooperation than direct competition. A report by the Canadian Minister of Supply and Services identified eight sources of competitive advantages for Canada's international education sector (MSS, 1993:19). We shall examine each of these in detail in order to gauge the overall competitiveness of Canada against Australia.

1. High quality of the education system:

While there is no doubt that Canada offers a high quality education system at all levels, the same can be said of Australia. Furthermore, the average international student who makes a study destination choice regarding a particular country, is usually unable to effectively judge the quality of the education services offered and tends to accept the quality of most countries to be equivalent.

2. Canada is a world leader in ESL teaching, curriculum and development:

The quality of Canada's English as a Second Language (ESL) programs are excellent, and Canada's bilingual culture assists this process. In 1993/94 there were 223,362 students enrolled in second-language immersion programs throughout Canada learning either English or French (Statistics Canada, 1996). Canada also enjoys the advantage of teaching English with a North American accent, something valued by many Asian students. Despite these advantages Australia also offers a world class ESL training system. Australia's English Language Intensive Courses for Overseas Students (ELICOS) have been developed specifically for the needs of international students and offer a highly cost effective package. Even without the North American accent, Australia has begun to attract increasing numbers of Asian and European students to its ELICOS programs.

3. Canada offers higher education in two main international languages:

This bilingualism is clearly an area in which Canada is able to differentiate itself from Australia. However, the attractiveness of French as a language of instruction for international students must be considered. Despite the large number of French

Institute for Research into International Competitiveness (IRIC) Curtin Business School, Curtin University of Technology GPO Box U1987, Perth WA 6001. Tel: (09) 351-2843, Fax: (09) 351-2872.

speaking nations who supply France with the bulk of its 140,000 international students, the majority of the world's international students wish to learn in English. The truth of this is to be gauged by the number of students who study English in their home countries and sit for the Test of English as a Foreign Language (TOEFL) examinations. In Japan, for example, there are more than 10 million students of all ages studying English (Asia Facts, 1996).

4. The Canadian English Accent is considered a "Preferred" accent:

As noted above, the American accent is attractive to many Asian students seeking to eventually work in the United States or with American multi-nationals. This view was supported by this study. It is an area that may indeed provide Canada with an edge over Australia in the ESL/ELICOS sector.

5. Canada has first-class health care at affordable rates:

When compared with the United States, the health care system in Canada is both less expensive and more user friendly for international students. This is less likely to be true when compared with Australia's health system. International students studying in Australia are required to take out health insurance cover, which is supplied by Medibank Private as a special Overseas Student Health Cover (OSHC) product (DEET, 1992). Some international students (those from New Zealand, Ireland, the United Kingdom, Italy, Malta, Sweden and the Netherlands) are exempt and able to access the national Medicare health scheme. According to a comparison of costs, health insurance for international students in Canada is around US\$400-US\$579 per year, while in Australia it is approximately US\$169-US\$220 per year (IDP Ltd, 1994; Powell, 1994).

6. Canada is affordable - tuition, travel and living costs are cheaper than most key competitors

An examination of the cost of tuition fees, travel and living costs between Canada and Australia was undertaken in 1994 by IDP Ltd for the Australian Department of Employment, Education, Training and Youth Affairs (Davis, 1995). Table 1.4 shows the comparison of costs for a students studying in either Australia or Canada during 1994.

Such comparisons of cost are difficult due to variations from institution to institution, and some increases in fees which have occurred since 1994². Nevertheless the comparison suggests that Australian and Canadian costs are closely aligned. Canadian course fees appear to be cheaper than those charged by Australian institutions. As a compensation Australia appears to offer some reduction in living costs for many South East Asians due to its closer geographic proximity which reduces travelling time and therefore airfares. Canada is currently a strong competitor with Australia on cost, although this many not be fully appreciated by many Asian students.

² In 1996 Australian visa fees were increased to around \$280 to incorporate a levy for the AIEF while course fees in Ontario rose by 20% in 1995/96.

Institute for Research into International Competitiveness (IRIC) Curtin Business School, Curtin University of Technology GPO Box U1987, Perth WA 6001. Tel: (09) 351-2843, Fax: (09) 351-2872.

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Fees	Visa	Living costs	Medical	Total
Australia					
Arts:	\$7,546-13,499	\$130	\$8,999-\$14,000	\$220	\$19,709-\$24,710
Sci/Eng:	\$12,500-\$19,499				\$21,719-\$33,719
Medicine:	\$20,000-\$26,000				\$29,193-\$40,220
Canada					
Arts:	\$4,507-\$7,764	\$ 85	\$10,190-\$17,601	\$579	\$15,276-\$25,994
Sci/Eng:	\$4,507-\$7,764				\$15,276-\$25,994
Medicine:	\$7,514-\$12,525				\$18,283-\$30,705

Table 1.4: Australian & Canadian Comparative Total Costs of programs 1994*

* All values shown in US dollars.

Source: (IDP Ltd, 1994)

7. Canada is considered to be a stable, safe, clean and fun living environment:

Both Canada and Australia can lay claim to these attributes. Canada is viewed by many international students as a relatively benign environment with much lower crime rates than is typical of the United States (LTG, 1996). Australia too is viewed in a similar way and can also lay claim to a low crime environment (Harris and Rhall, 1993; ELICOS, 1995; Smart and Ang, 1995).

8. Canada is multi-cultural:

Canada has over 850,000 Canadians of Asian origin living there and is one of the most multi-cultural nations in the world. Australia too is a multi-cultural society that is attracting substantial numbers of Asian migrants due to its close proximity to the Asia-Pacific region.

On balance the two countries are able to claim equal levels of attractiveness to international students. Many of the students who come to Canada and Australia from countries in the Asia-Pacific region are relatively young (under 25 years old) and are living overseas for the first time. They have usually made their decision to study in Canada or Australia as a result of a combination of reasons, although there are three factors which may give Australia a competitive edge over other countries which supply international education services including Canada:

1. Geographic Proximity:

The geographic proximity between Australia and the home countries from which many students originate is a key factor in attracting them to that country. For students from Indonesia, Singapore or Malaysia, the distance to Australia is substantially less than other study destinations, such as Canada, the United Kingdom or United States. The impact of geographic proximity on student study destination choice has been identified in past research (Davis, 1995; ELICOS, 1995). Why this is of importance

can be better understood when it is noted that many students travel home or are visited by parents, relatives and friends an average of four times a year during their study programs (DCT, 1993). With so many young students studying abroad the closer the geographic proximity to family the more likely the parents will be satisfied. Closer distances also substantially reduce the cost of airfares and telephone calls.

2. Climate:

A second key factor in Australia's favour is its climate. Compared to Europe or North America, Australia has a milder, warmer climate. This has less impact upon students from North Asia (eg. Korea or Japan), where cold weather is a common occurrence in winter. However, for many South East Asian students, a cold climate is a negative factor. Australia's image as a warm and sunny country is therefore attractive (ELICOS, 1995).

3. Government regulation:

Finally, Australia is generally viewed as having an international education system that is well regulated and therefore able to deliver a consistent standard. Following the collapse of several small privately owned colleges in the early 1990s Australia has taken legislative action to protect international students from financial loss. The Education Services for Overseas Students (Registration of Providers and Financial Regulation) (ESOS) Act, 1991 provides regulation of private institutions (DEET, 1992). Further uniformity is provided by the Commonwealth Department of Education, Employment, Training and Youth Affairs (DEETYA) which is a national agency for controlling all international education providers.

Institutions that wish to recruit international students must register with the Commonwealth Register of Institutions and Courses for Overseas Students (CRICOS). While these matters may not be well understood by international students themselves, they are well recognised among education counsellors and agents in Asian countries. Australia's largely government funded university sector is considered to offer a more consistent standard than the United States higher education sector which boasts some of the best and worst universities in the world. The existence of the TAFE and national VET system is another potentially attractive feature of Australia's international education sector.

The longer term outlook for Canada and Australia

Despite Australia's recent success and Canada's relative decline in the field of international education, the likelihood of this status quo continuing over the long term is problematic. Since the 1950s the overall flow of international students throughout the world has slowed (Kemp, 1990). Whereas the annual rate of growth for such students doubled each decade during the years 1950 to 1970, during the period from 1970 to 1980 the annual rate of growth declined to 6.9 per cent and slowed again to 0.3 per cent in the 1980s (Kemp, 1995). This slowing has been observed in international student flows to the United States (Agarwal and Winkler, 1985; Davis, 1995).

Institute for Research into International Competitiveness (IRIC) Curtin Business School, Curtin University of Technology GPO Box U1987, Perth WA 6001. Tel: (09) 351-2843, Fax: (09) 351-2872.

Table 1.5 illustrates the average annual growth rates for the top five host countries over the period 1970 to 1990. It is noticeable that while Canada has experienced a relatively low growth rate over the entire period, Australia's high recent growth rates have gone strongly against the global trend.

Host Country	average annual growth 1970-1980	average annual growth 1980-1990
United States	8.4%	1.3%
France	12.6%	2.1%
Germany	8.3%	5.6%
United Kingdom	8.6%	3.6%
Canada	3.8%	2.5%
Australia	2.3%	12.7%

Table 1.5: International Student Growth Rates - Major Host Countries

Source: (Kemp, 1995:3)

It is difficult to predict the long term pattern of international student flows. Countries such as China and India may provide a substantial increase in demand over the next twenty years given their economic development and unmet demand for higher education (Blight, 1995). However, it seems unrealistic to imagine that Australia can continue to enjoy the high annual growth rates that it has over the past ten to fifteen years.

The expansion of education systems in many Asian countries, such as Malaysia and Taiwan, may reduce the overall demand for international education in the longer term. An enhanced marketing effort by countries such as the United States and Canada might also reduce the flow of students to Australia. Finally, the are likely to be limits on the capacity for Australia to absorb ever increasing numbers of international students (Mazzarol and Soutar, 1996).

As noted above, Australia has relatively few universities, colleges and other institutions. The expansion of the Australian higher education system during the 1980s coincided with the country's entry into the active recruitment of international full fee paying overseas students. These two events successfully to ensured that the absorption of a large population of international students caused minimum strain on the Australian higher education system.

The election of a Federal Coalition Government in Australia in 1996 appears to have ushered in a new era of financial restraints on funding for education. Any future growth in the Australian higher education sector seems unlikely over at least the medium term.

For Canada the decline in its market share over the past decade and a half is likely to have been due to the emergence of Australia as an aggressive new supplier within the Asia-Pacific region. Canada's recent shift to a more coordinated marketing strategy

via the APFC and its network of CECs is likely to pay dividends over time. It will be critical for Canadian Provincial Governments to recognise the importance of working together and reducing any impediments to presenting a united national effort within international markets.

Both Canada and Australia should view themselves as countries with similar international profiles that attract students from many of the same markets. As competitors they will secure some market share from each other with Australia having a stronger competitive edge within South-East Asia, and Canada likely (with adequate marketing effort) to hold its own among North-East Asian countries. A realistic assessment of the world flow of international students shows that it is the United States and possibly Britain who attract the largest number of international students. It is these two countries, particularly the United States who represent the main competition for Australia and Canada.

Size and nature of the Australian Education Market

Canadian education institutions seeking to develop closer ties with their Australian counterparts are likely to be motivated by the prospect of recruiting students from that country. Estimates of the size of the potential markets in Australia and Canada are difficult to make with accuracy due to the lack of available statistics. In this section we attempt to examine the likely size and nature of the market for overseas students in Australia.

Of the 80,722 international students studying in Australia in 1995, 71 per cent were enrolled at the higher education level. The remainder were spread evenly between the other major sectors within the education system. In addition to these students there were 5.4 million Australian students enrolled in various programs ranging from schools to universities. Table 1.6 shows the distribution of these students throughout the Australian education system.

Education Sector	International Students	Domestic enrolments
Higher education	57,052	604,200
Vocational education & training	5,677	1,661,200
ELICOS programs	8,231	a a construction de la construction La construction de la construction d
Primary & Secondary schools	9,762	<u>3,109,300</u>
Total	80,722	5,374,700

Table 1.6: Australian student enrolments by sector 1995

Source: (ABS, 1996; DEET, 1996)

For Canadian institutions seeking to recruit students from Australia, the third country international students represent the most promising opportunity. Such students have already committed themselves to a full-fee program and might be interested in undertaking further studies in Canada upon graduation. Later in this report we will examine the likelihood that international students will choose to continue their postgraduate studies in Canada. A survey of students currently enrolled in Australia

institutions was undertaken and the results are outlined. No reliable estimates on the number of students who choose to continue on to post-graduate studies following graduate are currently available.

In Table 1.7 the international student enrolments within Australian institutions are shown by type of program rather than sector. This provides a slightly different picture of the size and nature of the Australian international education market. An examination of Table 1.7 reveals that around 31 per cent of the international students are enrolled in privately owned institutions at various levels from primary schools to post-secondary colleges. A further 6 per cent are enrolled within the TAFE Colleges at various levels. These students may offer an opportunity for Canadian institutions seeking to attract students.

For students enrolled in TAFE Colleges or Private post secondary colleges there is no guarantee that they will be accepted into Australian university programs upon completion of their diploma programs. While many do succeed in their applications there is no reason why they would not consider applying for entry into a university in a third country such as Canada.

This may also apply to the students enrolled in vocational certificate and advanced certificate programs, university foundation studies programs the ELICOS programs and the schools sector. This creates a pool of around 32,000 international students enrolled in Australia who are pre-university and may be interested in continuing their education in another country.

It should also be noted that Australia has a relatively low proportion of post-graduate students enrolled in its international education sector. For example, compared to the United States, the 15 per cent of international students who are undertaking Masters, Doctorates and other post-graduate programs is low. In the United States these type of students frequently comprise the largest proportion of enrolments (Davis, 1995).

For a young student on their first overseas experience Australia offers an attractive opportunity and parents can maintain easier contact with their children, while retaining greater confidence about their safety. These factors have contributed significantly to the growth in enrolments of international students in Australia's primary and secondary schools. Following, graduation this situation changes. After spending three to five years in Australia, students who desire post-graduate or further education qualifications are in a position to seek study destinations elsewhere. Canadian universities may be able to attract a proportion of these students.

Of the 5.4 million Australian students it is likely that Canadian institutions may attract a small proportion to complete their studies in Canada on a full-fee paying basis. It is difficult to estimate the size of this potential market with any accuracy. In 1993 there were 5,128 Australians studying overseas, the largest proportion of whom (44%) were enrolled in United States institutions (Unesco, 1996).

- 25

Type of program	Number of Students	% of total
University degree programs:	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Doctorate & higher degrees	2,853	3.5%
Masters & other post-graduate degrees	9,128	11.3%
Bachelor's degree programs	34,231	42.4%
Total degree programs	46,212	57.2%
Diploma & Advanced diploma programs:		
TAFE College diploma programs	3,231	4.0%
Private College diploma programs	7,301	9.0%
Total Diploma programs	10,532	13.1%
Certificate & Advanced Certificates:		
University vocational programs	405	0.5%
TAFE College vocational programs	1,004	1.2%
Private College vocational programs	2,605	3.2%
Total vocational certificate programs	4,014	5.0%
University Foundation Studies:		
University enrolments	847	1.0%
TAFE College enrolments	147	0.2%
Private College enrolments	669	0.8%
Total University Foundation enrolments	1,663	2.1%
School Enrolments:		
Government secondary schools	1,239	1.5%
Private secondary schools	7,985	10.0%
Government primary schools	144	0.2%
Private primary schools	394	0.5%
Total School enrolments	9,762	12.1%
ELICOS Enrolments:		
University ELICOS programs	1,327	1.6%
TAFE ELICOS programs	773	1.0%
Private ELICOS College programs	6,131	7.6%
Total ELICOS enrolments	8,231	10.2%
	80,722	100%

Table 1.7: International Student Enrolments in Australia by sector - 1995

Institute for Research into International Competitiveness (IRIC) Curtin Business School, Curtin University of Technology GPO Box U1987, Perth WA 6001. Tel: (09) 351-2843, Fax: (09) 351-2872.

.

Many of the 1.7 million Australian students enrolled in the technical and vocational sector are paying full fees to complete programs in private colleges. There is also likely to be an increasing number of Australian students who will pay full fees to complete their undergraduate and post-graduate level programs at university level. The recent higher education budget statement of August 1996 delivered by the Australian Minister for Employment, Education, Training and Youth Affairs made specific provision for local students to "purchase a place at an Australian university" (Vanstone, 1996:3). This statement also increased undergraduate Higher Education Charges (HECs) with fees ranging from A\$3,300 per annum for Arts and Humanities degrees, to A\$5,500 per annum for Medicine and Veterinary Science.

At the post-graduate level the opportunity for Canadian institutions may be even greater. New policy changes introduced by the Australian Federal Government mean that most post-graduate degrees by course work (eg. MBAs, DBAs and Post-Graduate Diplomas) will be charged to the Australian student at full cost. Many universities in Australia have already introduced such fees for Australian students. In 1993, for example, there were 14,723 fee paying post-graduate domestic students enrolled in Australian universities of whom 53 per cent were taking Masters degrees by Course work (Wu and Waller, 1995). From 1997/98 it is anticipated that all such programs will charge full-fees. How this will impact on Canadian institutions ability to recruit Australians to study overseas is difficult to assess. A comparison of Australian and Canadian post-graduate education course fees was undertaken by IDP Ltd in 1994 the results of which are shown in Table 1.8 (Davis, 1995).

 Table 1.8: Australian & Canadian Post-Graduate Annual Course Median Fees 1994

	Australia	Canada
MBA Program	US \$10,360	US \$5,546
Arts Masters Degree	US \$ 7,844	US \$5,546
Engineering PhD	US \$11,100	US \$5,540

Source: (Davis, 1995)

Although these annual fees vary, the findings from this report suggest that Canadian universities charge much lower fees. Annual course fees for Canadian MBA programs, for example, ranged from US\$1,968 to US\$9,015 when measured over 22 selected institutions. By comparison, Australian university fees for their MBA programs ranged from US \$7,474 to US \$15,540 per annum (Davis, 1995).

With Australian and Canadian costs of living being comparable, the rising cost of post-graduate course fees in Australia could serve to make Canada an attractive option for many Australians. In 1993 there were 2,249 Australian students enrolled in institutions in the United States (Unesco, 1996). Fourty-two per cent of these students were completing post-graduate programs, 51 per cent undergraduate programs and the remaining students various other courses leading to diplomas (Davis, 1995:47). By comparison only 225 Australian students were enrolled in Canadian institutions during the same year (Unesco, 1996). With the annual median course fees for an MBA program at an American public university is US\$8,214 and for a private one

US\$17,520 it would be cheaper for Australian students to study in Canada rather than the United States (Davis, 1995).

Opportunities for Australia in the Canadian Market

Australian education institutions are also likely to be seeking an opportunity to benefit from any exchange with their Canadian colleagues by a reciprocal flow of students. In this section the potential of the Canadian market for Australian education institutions is examined.

Canada's education system is larger than Australia's and Canada's students have demonstrated a greater willingness to study overseas. There were 574,314 full time and 300,290 part time students enrolled in Canada's universities in 1993/94. A further 376,840 full-time and 181,040 part-time students were enrolled in the Community College system during the same period (Statistics Canada, 1996).

In 1993 there were 27,437 Canadian students studying abroad at the post-secondary level (Unesco, 1996). Eighty-three per cent of these students were studying in the United States. This placed Canada as the sixth most important source of international students for the United States (Davis, 1995:20). Thirty-six per cent of Canada's students who studied in the United States during 1994/95 did so at the post-graduate level. Fifty-eight per cent were undergraduates and a further 6 per cent were enrolled in diploma courses (Davis, 1995:47).

Field of Study	% undergraduate	% post-graduates
Agriculture	2.1%	1.5%
Business	12.7%	7.6%
Education	18.0%	7.9%
Engineering	6.2%	6.2%
Fine Arts & Applied Arts	6.6%	9.0%
Health Sciences & Professions	12.8%	25.1%
Humanities	3.0%	8.8%
Maths & Computer Science	1.5%	2.5%
Physics & Life Sciences	5.1%	9.4%
Social Science/Humanities	12.0%	13.6%
Intensive English	0.2%	0.2%
Other/undeclared	<u> 19.8%</u>	8.1%
	100.0%	100.0%

Table 1.9: Canadian student enrolments in the USA by field of study - 1993/94

Source: (Davis, 1996)

For undergraduate Canadian students studying in the United States the most popular courses appear to be Education, Business, Health and Social Sciences. At the post-graduate level it is the Health Sciences and Professions (eg. Medicine, Nursing, Physiotherapy, Chiropractic, Dentistry etc) which attract the largest proportion of students. Table 1.9 shows the distribution of Canadian students in undergraduate and post-graduate programs in the United States during 1993/94. It provides a useful

insight into the potential course or subject areas which may be attractive to Canadian students seeking to study abroad.

After the United States the most popular destination for Canadian students is the United Kingdom (1,287 students in 1992), followed closely by France (1,091 students in 1993) (Unesco, 1996). As a study destination Australia ranked in eighth place behind such countries as Germany, China, Italy and Switzerland. During 1995 Australia was host to 543 students from Canada. The majority of these students (89%) were studying at the Higher Education level where 95 per cent were enrolled in the public universities (DEET, 1996). Table 1.10 shows the number of Canadian students enrolled in the ten Australian universities which had the largest international student populations in 1995.

Institution	number of students	proportion of total
Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology	6	1.1%
Monash University	31	5.7%
University of New South Wales	31	5.7%
Curtin University of Technology	6	1.1%
University of Melbourne	24	4.4%
Victoria University of Technology	3	0.5%
University of Sydney	12	2.2%
University of Western Sydney	177	32.6%
University of Wollongong	4	0.7%
Queensland University of Technology		0.5%
Total Canadian students in Australia	543	100.0%

Table 1.10: Canad	lian student enrolments	in Australia top	10 institutions - 1995

Source: (DEET, 1996:77)

An examination of Table 1.10 highlights the high proportion of Canadian students enrolled at the University of Western Sydney (UWS). The reason for this relatively high level of enrolment at UWS can be partially explained by the presence at the university of a Canadian Studies Centre. However, the key explanation which was given during our consultations with UWS staff, was the seizure by the university of a market opportunity. Several years previously a Canadian based education agent had approached Australian institutions seeking to place students wishing to undertake post-graduate courses in education. The UWS was not the first Australian university to accept these students, but it was virtually the only one who gave serious consideration to developing a niche market in Canada.

It is unlikely that Australia can replace the United States as Canada's most popular overseas study destination. The geographic proximity of America is by itself sufficient to ensure this. However, Australia is capable of enhancing its share of Canada's international student population. For example, in 1988 Australia was host

to 10 international students from Canada. As noted earlier this number has grown to over 500 during 1995 (DEET, 1996). The experience of institutions such as the University of Western Sydney suggest that Australia can attract substantial numbers of Canadian students if careful marketing is undertaken. Over time Australia could become the most popular overseas study destination for Canadians after the United States rivalling the United Kingdom which regularly attracts over one thousand students from Canada each year.

Study Methodology

This project was undertaken in three distinct stages. During the first stage a series of discussions and interviews were conducted with a range of institutions in Western Australia, Victoria, New South Wales, Queensland and the ACT. The purpose of these discussions with institutional administrators and students was to gain a cross sectional view of the Australian international education industry's interest in collaboration with Canadian institutions. The following institutions were involved in this stage of the project:

Universities:

- The University of Western Australia Curtin University of Technology, Perth (UWA), Perth WA. WA • Murdoch University, Perth WA.
- Monash University, Melbourne Vic.
- University of Western Sydney, (UWS) Macarthur, NSW.
- University of Western Sydney, (UWS) Nepean, NSW.
- Australian National University, • Canberra ACT

TAFE/VET Sector:

- **TAFE International Western Australia**
- Hales College, Melbourne Vic
- Victoria College, Melbourne Vic
- of New South Wales Department TAFE, Sydney NSW
- International, • Oueensland TAFE Brisbane Q.

- Edith Cowan University, Perth WA
- Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology (RMIT), Melbourne Vic
- University of NSW (UNSW), Sydney NSW
- Queensland University of Technology, Brisbane Q.
- University of Queensland, Brisbane Q.
- South East Metropolitan College of TAFE, Perth WA
- Chalmers Business College, Melbourne Vic
- NSW Department of School Education, Sydney NSW
- Australian Council of Private Education Providers (ACPET)
- Queensland Commercial College, Brisbane Q.

ELICOS Sector:

- Sydney College of English, Sydney NSW
- Oueensland College of English, Brisbane O.

Schools Sector

- Training, Canberra ACT
- Communications and Marketing Dept of School Education, Sydney NSW

Additional discussions were also held with:

Other agencies:

- Australian International Education • Foundation (AIEF), Canberra ACT.
- International Marketing Group, WA Education Consortium, Perth.
- IDP Education Australia Ltd. Canberra ACT

In addition to discussions with staff and administrators from these organisations, a series of focus groups were also undertaken with students enrolled in several of these institutions in Perth, Melbourne and Sydney. This provided a foundation for subsequent use in a large scale survey of students.

During the second stage of the project a questionnaire was sent via the Canadian High Commission to all Universities and Community Colleges in Canada, requesting institutional administrators to consider several issues arising from the stage one discussions. A total of 77 responses were returned from Canadian institutions.

In stage three a survey of international and domestic students in Australia was undertaken within Universities and Colleges in several states. A total of 879 useable questionnaires were returned. These examined student knowledge of Canada prior to selecting Australia, and future study intentions. The results of this survey are outlined later in this report.

- Australian College of English, Sydney NSW
- ACT Department of Education & Queensland Department of Education, Brisbane Q.

PART TWO: THE AUSTRALIAN PERSPECTIVE

General

In general the response from the Australian industry can be described as positive. The institutions and other agencies with whom we spoke saw a range of potential opportunities for enhanced cooperation and collaboration with Canada in the field of international education. There were some reservations, mostly from the within the university sector, that viewed Canada as a competitive threat to their own market share. However, not all Australian universities appear to feel this way. The discussions were held with senior academic or administrative staff in each of the thirty-two organisations with whom we consulted. Within the TAFE sector and among private colleges a higher level of interest was shown in developing alliances with institutions in Canada if these were to have positive commercial spin offs.

The discussions with the Australian institutions synthesised into six areas in which future cooperation between the two countries could be envisaged:

- 1. Joint Promotion and Marketing collaborative efforts to jointly market or promote international education to prospective students;
- 2. Study Abroad Programs enhancement of study abroad programs to provide scope for commercially viable short course exchanges of fee paying international students;
- 3. Joint Courses and Programs collaboration between Australian and Canadian institutions to run joint courses that would be accredited by both countries;
- 4. Offshore Teaching Programs joint ventures between institutions in Canada and Australia to establish offshore teaching programs in targeted third countries;
- 5. **Project Work** collaboration between Canada and Australia to form consortia to target large scale World Bank or Asian Development Bank projects in education and training;
- 6. The CANZIEG Concept a three country forum involving Canada, Australia and New Zealand to exchange information, agree on accreditation and visa regulations and build a foundation for future cooperation in the field of international education.

In the following sections each of these six areas will be examined in detail to provide an overview of the nature of the Australian institutional response.

Joint Promotion and Marketing

Opportunities for Australian and Canadian institutions to engage in joint promotion and marketing activities were examined in the discussions conducted with institutional administrators in Australia. In seeking areas for future collaboration between education institutions in Canada and Australia they may find initial collaboration in exchanges of information on study opportunities than can be distributed to students in their respective institutions. Most of the institutions with whom we spoke were willing to consider this option. Many of the larger universities were already carrying information about study abroad opportunities including those in Canada within their International Offices.

Universities:

The idea that Australian and Canadian universities might collaborate in joint promotion and marketing activities was generally received with caution and scepticism. Most Australian universities were willing to consider maintaining information on Canadian institutions in their international offices and disseminating it to interested students. This was viewed as a desirable activity in the interests of student welfare. If this service could be reciprocated by Canadian institutions the likelihood of it being accepted among the Australian universities was even higher. It was pointed out by most of the universities with whom we spoke that they already carried some information on study abroad opportunities which included Canada.

At the University of Western Sydney (UWS) Macarthur, there was already an agreement through which UWS carried information on four Canadian universities in Halifax and two in Ontario. UWS had the first Canadian Studies Centre in Australia and encouraged more two way flow of students between the two countries. The University of Queensland also had agreements with the University of British Colombia, University of Edmonton, University of Saskatchewan, University of Alberta and the University of Waterloo. These involved exchange of students and staff and meant that information on these Canadian universities was kept within the international office.

Caution was raised by a number of Australian universities towards the idea of actively promoting Canada as an education destination or even joint marketing and promotion efforts by Australian and Canadian institutions offshore. It was generally felt that this would be of little benefit to Australian universities who already had a solid market share in many South East Asian countries. If the agreement was for a relatively low key approach with Australian institutions providing information to interested students there would be few difficulties. Anything more than this would not likely receive much support from the universities.

Non-university sector:

Within the non-university sector the level of interest was noticeably higher over the prospect of joint promotion and marketing between Australia and Canada. The private business colleges and ELICOS centres expressed interest in undertaking more "pro-active" marketing and promotion with Canadian institutions. For these institutions the opportunity act as an outlet for information on Canadian education was seen as a means of gaining a higher profile within their own markets. If Canadian institutions were willing to offer reciprocal arrangements within North America, Europe or South America this would enhance the overall coverage of the Australian colleges.

Canada does not possess a Canadian Education Centre (CEC) in Australia, therefore the opportunity offered by dissemination of promotional material via Australian institutions appears to be a positive one. Within the ELICOS sector, it is likely that as many as 30 per cent of students who undertake English language instruction in Australia would go on to further study. In 1995 official estimates suggest that there were 8,231 ELICOS students enrolled in Australian institutions (DEET, 1996). Most of those within the ELICOS industry with whom we spoke considered that this is a conservative estimate as many students arrive on tourist visas and undertake short programs. This may also be true of the ESL students who study in Canada. According to a survey of 410 ESL students enrolled in institutions in British Colombia, Ontario, Ouebec and Saskatchewan, only 32 per cent were planning to continue on to further education in Canada. Fourty-five per cent were studying to learn English for work related reasons, 13 per cent for pleasure and 10 per cent for a combination of reasons (LTG, 1996). It should be noted that this study was undertaken during the January-February period when many ESL students seeking to enter the colleges or universities may not be enrolled.

As noted earlier, the vocational education and training (VET) sector in Australia attracted an estimated 16,209 full-fee paying overseas students (FFPOS) in 1995. Approximately 65 per cent of these students were enrolled in private business colleges with TAFE taking 25 per cent and the remainder in Commonwealth funded higher education institutions. Many of these students seek to upgrade their qualifications by entering universities. Promotion by Canadian institutions to these students via Australian VET sector institutions would be expected to attract a proportion of FFPOS to Canadian rather than Australian universities and colleges.

The schools sector:

Discussions with the schools sector was limited to contact with government regulatory agencies in Queensland, New South Wales and the Australian Capital Territory. The response from the NSW Department of School Education was quite negative. They expressed scepticism over cooperation with Canada on a commercial basis and felt that Canada was likely to make use of Australian strategies for its own benefit.

The ACT Schools Authority was more relaxed. They could see some merit in holding information on Canadian education for prospective students if the same service was performed for them in Canada. Of interest was the opportunity to have Canada accredit students from the ACT Schools system for entry into Canadian further education.

The Queensland Education Department was unwilling to actively promote Canadian education but expressed a willingness to carry information on Canada for students and parents. There was already some exchange of information taking place between schools systems. Queensland and British Colombia were viewed as having sufficient common ground to make future collaboration possible on a State/Province basis.

Study Abroad Programs

Most Australian universities have exchange agreements with overseas universities involving student exchange. These programs are not viewed as a commercial activity but do enhance the learning experiences of the students, and the overall reputation of the institution. In developing greater links with Canada, many of the universities with whom we spoke expressed an interest in enhancing the flow of study abroad students. These students offered a greater commercial potential and it was felt that many international students, as well as domestic students would take up the opportunities.

A major dilemma facing Australian universities is the relatively low numbers of Australian students who choose to take up study abroad or student exchange opportunities. It was noted that while tens of thousands of international students were coming into Australia to complete their education, the flow of Australians moving in the other direction was small. A common complaint among the universities with whom we spoke was the general unwillingness of Australian students to study overseas. Many of the universities offered students financial support to pay for airfares and accommodation but were still unable to fill their quotas.

Despite these problems, it was the view of a number of universities that opportunities for enhancing the study abroad programs could be found. The University of Western Sydney, Macarthur proposed a six month study abroad program involving credit transfer and recognition between selected faculties. Numerous opportunities were felt to exist in such fields as: comparative studies in literature, education, management, sociology and anthropology. Students studying agricultural science, forestry and fisheries, or environmental science would gain from study abroad in Canada and Australia where both countries have common expertise.

The Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology (RMIT) was enthusiastic about enhancing its study abroad programs with Canada. It identified such areas as nursing, post-graduate teacher education, chiropractic studies and Chinese medicine as offering potential for development.

Such study abroad programs, while not generating the same level of financial return as full programs, would be expected to enhance the overall profile of Canadian education in Australia and vice versa. Furthermore, once a student has experienced the opportunities offered by the other country first hand, they are more likely to seriously consider choosing that country as a study destination, and enhance promotion via word of mouth referral.

Not all the universities were enthusiastic. While not negative towards the idea of enhancing the level of student exchange and study abroad programs with Canada, these institutions expressed doubt as to financial viability of such activities. Queensland University of Technology (QUT), for example, explained that it already had several agreements with Canadian universities and was actively engaged in study abroad and exchange programs around the world. Arrangements were already in place to send students from Australia to Singapore for short courses. These were expensive and it was likely to be unrealistic to expect many Australian students to be able to afford them.

Joint Courses and Programs

A further development of the study abroad concept was the management of joint courses and teaching programs between institutions in Canada and Australia. Curtin University of Technology, for example, was looking for opportunities to stage joint courses with institutions in other countries. It already had a program in China in the field of international business that required students to spend time in both countries. RMIT was operating a similar arrangement with universities in Southern China. Australian students paid full-fees to study in China for a Diploma of International Business. The program attracted 24 students in 1996. "RMIT felt that this model might be repeated with a suitably interested Canadian institution in the right academic discipline.

University attitudes toward joint programs:

Monash University suggested that such programs would be highly "labour intensive" but viewed them positively. It noted that the University of Melbourne had an arrangement with Georgetown University in the United States. Monash proposed a program involving use of video conferencing and E-Mail exchanges by academics and students in the two countries. This would culminate in a short study abroad component where the students could visit their sister institution in the other country. Monash University was doubtful that such a program would make much money for either institution. However, they considered the benefits in terms of internationalisation, research and overall institutional reputation would be worth the investment.

UWS Macarthur was interested in developing links with Canadian Universities in the provision of placements for students taking MBA programs. The MBA programs offered by UWS, as with many other Australian universities, placed a focus on international experience. MBA students at UWS would be sent to Canada for a part of their program to work with Canadian firms on special projects. They might complete additional courses in Canada. In return UWS would take Canadian MBA students and find placements for them in Australia. UWS felt that this would be of benefit to both countries. In 1996 UWS had 150 students enrolled within its MBA program. Of these 100 were FFPOS.

This view was echoed by QUT which already had an optional third semester built into its MBA program and encouraged students to study overseas. It was also positive about the idea of facilitating these exchanges via collaboration with Canadian universities. A note of caution was raised. It was pointed out that to make such joint course or programs work it would be essential to involve academic staff and get the heads of Faculty to become enthusiastic about them. Without this involvement no agreement signed by an international office would have much value. To get academic staff interested was likely to require the seed funding of staff exchanges and therefore some initial investment by the institutions.
TAFE interest in joint programs:

Within the TAFE sector relatively strong interest was expressed in developing joint programs with Canadian Community Colleges. TAFE International WA, for example, were already seeking to establish international programs with Polytechnics in Scotland. This would involve students having the opportunity to study in both countries and obtain the benefits of the international experience and exposure to different environments where their subject or field was being applied.

There would be benefits from the point of view of flows between the two countries, as well as the enhanced research and academic exchanges. Accreditation issues would need to be addressed. In a two year program the student might spend one year in each country. Such a program would need to consider the mutual benefits offered by both countries. Some possible areas might be: Business and commerce, Hospitality, Art and graphic design, or Manufacturing.

Similar views were expressed by TAFE NSW. Although more cautious as to the net benefits to themselves, TAFE NSW were positive towards the idea of forming joint teaching and training activities with Canadian Community Colleges. TAFE NSW believed that it had a high degree of expertise in the provision of industry linked adult education programs. Suggestions were made about working in conjunction with industry associations in Canada and Australia to deliver vocational training on two continents. Manufacturing related training was identified as one area of possible interest. Enhancement of international trade particularly in the Small and Medium Enterprise sector was also discussed.

TAFE International Queensland were keen to enhance the level of international student exchanges. They currently had no study abroad program but felt the opportunities might exist for exchanges or collaboration in the fields of Hospitality or Travel and Tourism. They were already examining the European and North American market in search of partners for this. For example, the Moreton Institute of TAFE in Brisbane had links to fashion design institutions in Milan, Manchester and New York for its fashion design courses.

Private VET sector views on joint courses:

In the private VET sector the Business Colleges with whom we spoke were equally as enthusiastic about joint programs. Hales College, for example, proposed that an opportunity might exist for cooperation in the area of its two year Diploma in Travel and Tourism. This course was popular with international students and was fully accredited with DEETYA. Hales suggested that international students in Australia could spend 5-10 weeks in Canada with an equivalent institution to gain enhanced international experience. The College had 360 international students enrolled in 1996 and believed that if it could establish an agreement with Canadian institutions along these lines it would attract a substantial number of additional international students via its agent network in Asia. Canadian colleges presumably would enjoy equivalent benefits. Another opportunity was also thought to exist in Hotel and Restaurant Management.

Institute for Research into International Competitiveness (IRIC) Curtin Business School, Curtin University of Technology GPO Box U1987, Perth WA 6001. Tel: (09) 351-2843, Fax: (09) 351-2872.

Chalmers Business College, which had enrolments of 350 international students in 1996, ran a popular course leading to a Diploma in International Trade. This program was fully accredited by DEETYA and took two years to complete. Chalmers estimated that at least 20% of its international students could afford to continue their education immediately in a third country such as Canada. At present around 10% of its students went on to further study in Australian universities. Chalmers had only recently entered the international education sector, although it had been operating for more than twenty years. The College Director said that he would be willing to act simply as an access point for Canadian institutions seeking to recruit international students. If Canadian institutions could reach agreements with his College over credit transfer and joint programs he was confident that he could fill any loss of international students who might chose to go on to study in Canada. Chalmers College had Diploma programs in Marketing, International Trade and Accounting which might be adapted to enable Canadian institutions to accept its graduates. Chalmers would guarantee quality of service delivery and suggested regular visits by Canadian institution administrators to monitor progress....

Victoria College was another example of the private VET sector. In 1996 Victoria had just over 400 international enrolments. It offered a range of Certificate and Diploma level courses in Business, Computer studies and Travel & Tourism. Deakin University, Monash U and Victoria University of Technology all offered credit transfer arrangement for Victoria College graduates seeking to continue their studies at the university level. The College was also involved with a joint program in Public Relations offered by the University of Central Queensland (UCQ). This involved students doing their first year at Victoria College and then going on to UCQ to complete the full degree program. UCQ was negotiating with other private colleges in Melbourne to offer this course.

Victoria College suggested that this joint program with UCQ might be a model for Canadian institutions seeking to enter the Australian market. Victoria College also operated a joint program in Hotel Management with private institutions in Switzerland. International students enrolled in Australia and completed part of the course at Victoria and the remainder in Switzerland. The program was popular with international students and was promoted by Victoria via its agent network in Asia. It was suggested that Canadian colleges or universities might look for similar opportunities perhaps in computer science or multi-media.

Queensland Commercial College (QCC) held similar views. This institution was part of a private college group that operated in five states. The group had had a campus in Canada in the early 1990s and provided Travel and Tourism as well as Hospitality programs to both Australian and international students. The field of Travel and Tourism was thought to be a particularly suitable one for the development of joint training programs spanning two hemispheres and continents. Students who took such courses needed to be exposed to as many different overseas experiences as possible. They also needed to learn how different countries handled such work.

The views of Chalmers, Hales, Victoria and QCC are likely to be typical of many other private colleges within the Australian VET sector. These institutions are relatively small but highly entrepreneurial. They are represented at an industry level

by the Australian Council of Private Education Providers (ACPET) which has 160 members and the Australian Council of Independent Business Colleges (ACIBC) with about 17 members. Such institutions are more likely to agree to acting as a representative of Canadian institutions seeking to establish a base in Australia. Most are well run and possess good facilities.

ELICOS Sector views on joint programs:

The ELICOS sector in Australia, in particular the private sector, is likely to be interested in developing links to Canadian institutions in the field of study tour and foundation programs. An example of what might be achieved was the current arrangement between the Sydney College of English (SCE) and Swiss Hotel Management institutions. SCE offered a course "English for Hotel Management" that had already attracted 15 students since commencing in May 1996. SCE sent its graduates on to Switzerland to complete their course.

Another area of potential cooperation between Canada and Australia within the ELICOS sector was the language study-tour course. Currently a relatively large number of students from Europe and Asia visited Australia for short courses involving English language instruction and study tours. In this way the student enhanced their English skills and experienced something of another country at the same time. Japan and Korea were prominent Asian markets for Australia in this regard.

Collaboration between Australian and Canadian institutions might see students visiting two countries in a package. This would enable them to learn English with Australian and Canadian accents and experience the culture and country side for the two study destinations. Such programs are usually highly price competitive and would need to take into consideration the large geographic distances and climatic changes involved.

Offshore teaching programs

Interest was shown at a variety of levels over the idea of Canada and Australia joining forces to establish teaching programs in third countries. Many Australian universities and several TAFE and Private Colleges have offshore teaching programs conducted in partnership with a local education provider. Curtin University of Technology, for example, has offshore programs in Singapore, Malaysia and Hong Kong. Monash University also has programs in Singapore, Hong Kong, Malaysia and Indonesia. In recent years these programs have enjoyed substantial growth and provide these institutions with a potential competitive advantage due to their ability to raise the institution's profile.

Within the university sector the idea of collaborating with Canadian institutions in operating joint offshore programs was received in a largely positive manner. Large markets such as Southern China and India were viewed as offering the most potential. South Korea, Taiwan, Viet Nam and Thailand were also mooted as possible opportunities.

Institute for Research into International Competitiveness (IRIC) Curtin Business School, Curtin University of Technology GPO Box U1987, Perth WA 6001. Tel: (09) 351-2843, Fax: (09) 351-2872.

Interest was also shown among the private colleges in establishing offshore teaching programs. Victoria College, for example, was already engaged in running a program in Laos in conjunction with Monash University. This offshore program had 700 students. It was in negotiation with two universities in Thailand to provide ELICOS training in Bangkok. Victoria College felt that an opportunity existed for Canada to work with Australia in offering offshore programs in Viet Nam. The authorities in Viet Nam were somewhat negative towards the United States due to lingering feelings over the war.

Staff at the Queensland Commercial College had been involved in establishing an offshore teaching program in Shanghai in conjunction with the University of Technology Sydney (UTS). A total of 232 Chinese students were recruited into the program and upon completion of their courses all had wanted to go to UTS for further study. Unfortunately Australian visa regulations made it difficult for most to gain access to Australia. It was felt that some collaboration with Canadian institutions might have solved the problem. Agreements for joint programs were already in existence with a number of education institutions in Scotland.

The Australian College of English (ACE) had already established training programs in Thailand for English as a Foreign Language (EFL) teachers. This program was being undertaken in collaboration with the University of Western Sydney (UWS). ACE was also involved in a similar program in Mongolia funded under an AusAid project. The college believed an opportunity also existed in Viet Nam for similar programs.

Project work

Project work refers to consultancies undertaken by institutions, frequently in third countries, for government or industry clients. Most of Australia's universities and TAFE Colleges actively seek such work, and a large proportion of Australia's private colleges will participate in them on an ad hoc basis.

Some examples of this type of work were put forward during our discussions as models offering potential for cooperation with Canadian institutions. TAFE International WA explained how they had recently secured an 18 month project to train staff throughout South East Asia for the Sheraton Hotel Chain. Staff in 35 Hotels in Hong Kong, Taiwan, Thailand, Indonesia, Viet Nam and China required training at a variety of levels from management to counter staff. TAFE instruction teams were drawn from across Australia and sent overseas to run short courses within the Hotels.

TAFE International Queensland also noted that Canada had a strong profile in Indonesia in the area of aid provision. It was their view that more benefit might be gained from collaboration with Canada than with Australian institutions located in other states. The concept of Australia and Canada was thought to be a good package to sell overseas when tendering for international projects.

All the universities with whom we spoke expressed interest in collaborating with Canadian institutions in tendering for projects. It was noted that Canada had enjoyed a greater level of success in winning large projects funded by the World Bank. By

comparison Australia had not. However, Australian institutions had developed a range of specialised programs relevant to Asia and felt confident in delivering these into the region. It was felt that an alliance between Canada and Australia might be a highly competitive combination.

The CANZIEG concept

An interesting concept initially mooted by Monash University and discussed further with other interlocutors, was the idea of forming a tripartite grouping of English instruction Commonwealth countries within the Asia-Pacific region. Canada, Australia and New Zealand are all likely to find common agreement over educational issues and have cultural and academic roots that should provide a high degree of common ground.

This Canada, Australia, New Zealand International Education Group (CANZIEG) concept could provide a forum for exchange of information on international student flows, accreditation, quality control measures and marketing. It would not be impractical for the three countries to undertake some joint promotion activities in third countries (eg. via Trade Fairs or advertising).

The CANZIEG forum would ensure that student clients received an increased level of service via improvements in quality assurance and access to information on course options. Such a forum would see an increase in the level of goodwill between the three countries and serve as a foundation for future cooperation.

It was suggested that the CANZIEG hold an annual conference that would serve as a meeting place to stimulate further cooperation within the grouping. Issues such as credit transfer, fee setting and immigration/visa problem might be discussed there. The group would enable each country to exchange information on student flows and some "market intelligence". It would provide a framework through which many of the more specific initiatives outlined earlier in this report could be discussed at a national level.

Discussions with the AIEF and IDP Ltd

In addition to the consultations with individual institutions we also spoke to the General Manager of the Australian International Education Foundation (AIEF) Mr John Rowling, and the Chief Executive of IDP Education Australia Ltd, Dr. Dennis Blight. As outlined in Part One, these two organisations provide strategic level marketing and promotion for Australia's international education sector. Their views are important to any national cooperation between Canada and Australia.

The AIEF Perspective:

The AIEF was generally cool towards the idea of collaboration between Australia and Canada. Tasked with enhancing the overall marketing of Australian international education overseas, the AIEF views Canada as a competitor country and was reluctant to undertake initiatives which might result in a loss of Australian market share.

Institute for Research into International Competitiveness (IRIC) Curtin Business School, Curtin University of Technology GPO Box U1987, Perth WA 6001. Tel: (09) 351-2843, Fax: (09) 351-2872.

In the area of joint promotion and marketing with Canada there was little enthusiasm from the AIEF. However, support was expressed for enhanced institutional links involving greater academic exchanges and research, as well as study abroad programs. The problem of Australian students not going overseas was discussed, and it was agreed that more could be done to encourage this. The Higher Education Contribution Scheme (HECS) needed to be modified to take into consideration opportunities for international study. Sweden had built into its public funding of higher education a component that allowed students to spend time overseas at recognised institutions. This was a model that Australia might consider.

A major concern for the AIEF was the lack of reliable information on international student flows and related data. Little was known about the flow of students around the world in the non-university sectors. School aged students, English language and vocational training students were not recorded by Unesco. Any AIEF collaboration with Canada was likely to be attractive if exchanges on student statistics could be made. The AIEF was already in consultation with the British Council about exchanges of information and this could be extended to Canada. A need was also identified for collaboration over the benchmarking of service quality standards.

1.

The IDP Perspective:

In contrast to the AIEF the response from the IDP Ltd was robust. IDP's Chief Executive expressed a desire to assist Canada in organising its international marketing efforts. The general picture of Canada that the IDP held was of a country getting organised and more capable in its approach to the international education market. IDP was even willing to underwrite the establishment of a Canadian IDP Ltd if this was desired.

In the area of project work, IDP had a strong track record. They perceived that many Asian governments desired multi-country consortia to undertake large scale projects in their countries. Canadian-Australian collaboration in this area was viewed as beneficial. According to the IDP Ltd, the Asia-Pacific Foundation of Canada (APFC) had offered to be shareholders with IDP Ltd, Cambridge University and the British Council in the ILTS language training measurement system. This was a major potential rival to the American TOEFL testing system. There were numerous problems with TOEFL, but before ILTS could be accepted widely it would require the collaboration of a number of key supplier countries to recognise it as a preferred measure. IDP Ltd saw this as an opportunity for the APFC to earn revenues as it would be able to own the ILTS program in Canada, supply test materials and administration centres.

In the area of joint promotion and marketing, IDP Ltd was enthusiastic about Australia and Canada sharing joint facilities in certain markets. Just as Canada and Australia currently share joint diplomatic facilities in some overseas posts, IDP saw an opportunity for there to be CECs and AECs jointly established in such markets as Japan or Mexico. Costs could be shared and administration support pooled.

The idea of forming a CANZIEG forum was also viewed in a positive light by IDP Ltd. Reference was made to the existing Commonwealth of Learning organisation,

which was established in 1988 in Vancouver. Although its focus is upon distance education, it is tasked to ensure that education is available to students in all commonwealth countries. According to IDP Ltd, if CANZIEG was established it should include the Commonwealth of Learning and consider including such countries as Singapore and Malaysia.

PART THREE: THE CANADIAN PERSPECTIVE

General

Following the discussions with the Australian institutions and agencies outlined in Part Two, a survey was undertaken of universities and colleges in Canada. This survey was designed to elicit additional comment and feedback from the Canadian institutions regarding the various issues raised in the earlier discussions with the Australian industry representatives.

A total of 169 Universities and Community Colleges in Canada were sent a questionnaire via the Canadian High Commission in Canberra. The final useable responses were 77, giving a response rate of 46 per cent. Thirty-five universities and 42 colleges were included in the final sample, with respondents from all provinces and from the full range of Canadian higher education institutions.

The 77 institutions which comprised the final sample ranged in size from some of the smallest to among the largest. Institutions included in the sample had as few as 250 full time students at Royal Roads University of Victoria, British Columbia, with only three international students, to as many as 50,000 full time students at the University of Toronto.

In general the response from the Canadian higher education sector to the initiatives discussed in Part Two were positive. Many of the Canadian institutions had existing agreements or relationships with their Australian counterparts. There was a strong positive expression for the relationship between the two countries to be enhanced.

Joint Promotion and Marketing

The Canadian institutions were asked to indicate whether they would be willing to consider disseminating information on Australian educational opportunities to Canadian and third country international students if this service was reciprocated by Australian institutions via their international offices. The majority of respondents (90.2%) indicated that they would be willing to do this.

Some concern was expressed over the costs involved in undertaking this activity. The issue of commercial conflicts of interest were also raised by some institutions. As stated by the Royal Roads University:

"The issue of inter-institutional/international competition is one issue that would need to be addressed. The Australian counterpart should be selected so that our programs compliment and don't duplicate".

It was the view of Ryerson Polytechnic University in Toronto that Canadian and Australian universities should identify their respective geographic areas of interest where they might represent each other in their marketing activities. For example, Australian institutions could target the South Pacific while Canada targeted the Caribbean and Latin America. Common areas such as China, South East Asia or Africa could be approached jointly.

The Eastern College of Applied Arts and Technology in Newfoundland suggested that in addition to institutional level exchanges, the Association of Canadian Community Colleges (ACCC) should be involved in representing the Canadian Community Colleges in any joint marketing and promotion with Australia.

Some concern was also expressed over the need to ensure that any exchange of promotional material between Canadian and Australian institutions did not result in a distortion of the facts. According to Georgia College of Ontario, any reciprocal exchange of promotional material with Australian institutions should provide for complete and accurate passage of information to prospective students. It should also make provision for adequate follow up if these students wished to make applications for entry to the overseas institution. As Seneca College in Ontario commented with respect to the idea of collaboration over the dissemination of information to international students: "The key is reciprocity".

Use of private Australian colleges as recruitment agents:

The Canadian institutions were also asked to indicate whether they were willing to consider promoting via Australian educational institutions (eg. Private Colleges) to attract third county international students studying in Australia. It was noted that this may require the payment of a success fee to the Australian institutions participating in the scheme. This idea emerged from discussions with some of the smaller Australian private colleges who felt that if they were to send students on to Canada they might receive some form of financial incentive for their efforts.

Fifty-one per cent of the sample indicated that they would be prepared to do this. Thirty-three per cent were unsure of this and appeared to be reluctant to make a commitment to what could be a costly activity. Many of the Canadian institutions do not charge full-fees for international students. The level of their "differential" fees varies from province to province. For those who charge relatively modest fees, the margin left over for commissions or success fees can be small. This view was expressed by the University College of Cape Breton, Nova Scotia, who explained that as their differential fees were "quite modest", "little is available for such payments".

Unlike most Australian institutions, many Canadian universities and colleges are less experienced with using offshore recruitment agents. This view was reinforced by Carleton University who despite having 1,300 international students enrolled in 1996 had never used agents who charged a fee for recruitment.

Other institutions were more willing to make use of agents. The Algonquin College of Applied Arts and Technology indicated that it would normally pay a success fee of around 10 per cent of the non-refundable portion of the student fees for the first year of a post-secondary program. For the ESL programs it would be 10 per cent of the fee paid at the commencement of the study period. Seneca College also indicated that 10 per cent of tuition fees was a common benchmark for agent commissions.

Institute for Research into International Competitiveness (IRIC) Curtin Business School, Curtin University of Technology GPO Box U1987, Perth WA 6001. Tel: (09) 351-2843, Fax: (09) 351-2872.

Education linkages between Canada and Australia

Ryerson Polytechnic University indicated that it would want to draw up individual contractual agreements with each participating Australian feeder institution. The Cabot College of Applied Arts and Technology said that it would expect the fees to be equivalent to those typically found in Asia. It would also expect a degree of fee disclosure. Interestingly Mohawk College in Hamilton Ontario stated that it was already using Australian colleges to recruit international students for it. St Claire College of Applied Arts and Technology in Ontario expressed the view that:

"We all need the business and should consider such fees a reasonable cost".

Collaboration in staging trade fairs or other promotions:

The Canadian institutions were also asked whether they would be willing to consider working in conjunction with Australian educational institutions in staging trade fairs or other promotion and marketing activities in selected third country markets. Just over half the sample (53%) indicated that they would be willing to this. A further 18 per cent were not willing and 29 per cent were unsure.

According to Bishop's University in Lennoxville, Quebec, any agreement on their part to engage in joint trade fairs or promotions would depend on the cost involved. They noted that their budgets were "tight". It was their preference to encourage campus visits by representatives from Canadian and Australian institutions who might hold information sessions for students interested in studying overseas. As they pointed out:

"We find that personal contact greatly facilitates collaboration between institutions, and allows opportunities to exchange valuable information on programmes offered."

Some concerns were expressed over the extent to which Canadian institutions should engage in joint marketing and promotion with Australia. Just as Australian institutions indicated a reluctance to hand over market share to a competitor like Canada, so to did several Canadian institutions. Royal Roads University suggested that it might be better to work more with other Canadian institutions in this area until Canada's "product" had been "clearly differentiated". The Algonquin College of Applied Arts and Technology felt that caution would need to be taken as Australia and Canada were competitors. Others such as the Cabot College of Applied Arts and Technology in Newfoundland, were more sanguine. They felt that the decision to stage joint overseas promotions would be possible in certain circumstances following adequate dialogue. Australia's success at marketing its international programs was recognised as something from which Canada might learn. As stated by the Assiniboine Community College in Manitoba:

"Australia appears to be so far ahead of Canada in this area. Canada can't seem to get its own act together, let alone collaborate with anyone else. If we can do it though, I'm for it !"

Other institutions, such as the Saskatchewan Institute of Applied Science and Technology (SIAST), Seneca and St Clair Colleges were less comfortable with the idea of joint promotions with Australia. While noting the idea was "fine in principle" the SIAST was not sure whether the staging of joint trade fairs "would prove effective". St Clair College echoed these views noting that they would rather work separately with "all-Canadian promotional campaigns". Finally Seneca College commented:

"Depends entirely of the 'selected markets' and the expense share (assuming promotion & marketing activities are at Seneca standard)."

The Eastern College of Applied Arts and Technology suggested that while it was willing to participate in joint trade fairs or other promotions with Australia, more use should be made of the Internet with a common World Wide Web site for "Canadian and Australian Post-Secondary Education and Training". This could have links to all participating institutions in both countries.

According to Georgian College of Applied Arts and Technology the value of trade fairs was likely to be limited. They were useful "profile sessions" but were expensive and frequently did not produce "direct results". It was their suggestion that separate agreements be reached between institutions in the two countries that would allow international students to attend college in Canada and Australia, graduate with two diplomas from the two countries.

Study Abroad Programs

The Canadian institutions were asked whether they had current exchange agreements with Australian institutions. Fourty per cent of the responding Canadian institutions indicated that they had such agreements. Not surprisingly the majority of these institutions were universities. Sixty-six per cent of the universities said that they had agreements with Australian institutions, while only 20 per cent of the Community Colleges did so.

The University of Alberta, for example, had existing exchange agreements with Edith Cowan University, the Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology (RMIT), Swinburne University of Technology, the University of Queensland and the University of Wollongong. These agreements generally allowed for up to five years of study. They encompassed faculty/staff exchange, joint research and publication, participation in seminars and academic meetings, the exchange of academic materials and short-term study programs.

Another example of the existing exchange agreements between Canada and Australia was the University of Guelph, Ontario. This institution had agreements with the Edith Cowan University, Curtin University of Technology, the University of Adelaide and the University of Canberra. The majority of its exchange agreements specified an upper limit of 10 students per year each way. It was noted that the flow of Canadians to Australia was much stronger than the flow of Australians the other way. Guelph had been forced to restrict its own students applications so as to enable the Australian institutions the chance to catch up. This reluctance by Australian students to travel abroad for study has been noted in Part Two of this report.

McGill University in Montreal noted that Australia was a popular destination for Canadian exchange students. They found that the number of McGill students who wished to participate in academic exchange programs "always exceeds the places available". McGill University was scheduled to send 21 students to Australia in 1996/97 where they would be hosted by the University of Adelaide, University of New South Wales and University of Melbourne.

The University of Western Ontario responded that it had a highly productive link with the Victoria University of Technology (VUT) in Melbourne. Commenced in 1988 this program involved exchanges of staff, graduate and undergraduate students between the Faculty of Kinesiology at Western Ontario and the Faculty of Human Movement at VUT. The program had been expanded in 1996 to include exchanges in the Education Faculties with teacher preparation and Masters level study. During the eight years the program had been running 40 Canadians and 34 Australians had been exchanged. Western Ontario had also established a link with the University of New South Wales in the are of Business Administration. Six Australian and four Canadian students had been exchanged during the past two years.

The Canadian institutions were also asked whether they were willing to work with their Australian counterparts to offer students from Canada and third countries the opportunity to spend periods of time in Australia on study abroad programs. It was noted also that a reciprocal flow of students from Australia would also be achieved. This idea was endorsed by 94 per cent the responding Canadian institutions with equal support from both colleges and universities.

McMaster University in Hamilton, Ontario observed that although it had only a single exchange agreement with the University of Newcastle, a strong interest was being shown by Canadian students in Australia:

"Over the past few years, a number of McMaster students have arranged their own study abroad at Australian universities for one semester or a full academic year. Judging by the number of enquires received by our International Student Adviser, there is great interest among McMaster students in pursuing some of their studies in Australia."

McMaster University also noted that there were 13 Australians enrolled there during 1995-96. Of these three were on student visas (2 graduates, 1 intern/resident), and 10 were "landed immigrants".

Fanshawe College of Applied Arts and Technology in London, Ontario was "particularly interested in the exchange of students for cooperative education work semesters". Langara College in Vancouver, British Columbia wrote that it was "excited about" the prospect of collaborating with Australian institutions to enhance the flow of study abroad students. The idea was also supported by New Brunswick Community College - Saint John who saw it as an opportunity to enhance their internationalisation program.

The Atlantic School of Theology in Halifax expressed a keen interest in enhancing its level of exchange with similar institutions in Australia. The AST did not have any

Education linkages between Canada and Australia

existing exchange agreements with Australia as most theological students undertook the responsibility of preparing their own study. In their response to this survey the AST wrote:

"AST would be interested in examining with other institutions in Australia the prospect of exchange students, and of making more widely known the resources that we provide in our ecumenical institution. AST is a unique theological school in that it combines the interests of the Anglican, Roman Catholic and United Churches in one institution. It may be of some interest to Australians to participate in our curriculum so that they can get a sense of ecumenical education as preparation for ministry and the study of theology".

There was a degree of differentiation expressed over the nature of such exchanges with the Community Colleges. The South Winnipeg Technical Centre, for example, expressed a desire to exchange in the area of trades and technologies. This was echoed by several other of the college respondents.

Joint Courses and Programs

In addressing this issue the general nature of the discussions which had taken place with the Australian institutions was outlined to those in Canada. Respondents were asked to indicate whether they would be willing to consider establishing joint programs or courses with Australian institutions along these lines. Eighty per cent of the responding Canadian institutions said that they would be willing to consider this option.

A wide range of different subjects were suggested as suitable for joint courses or programs to be established with Australian institutions. Among the most commonly mentioned subjects were Hospitality, Tourism, Business and Health Sciences. Teacher education and Early Childhood studies were also mentioned. Table 3.1 provides a summary of the responses.

Proposing Institutions	Program Areas/comments		
Algonquian College	Travel counselling & Business would be the areas worth exploring. A small number of students might be able to find the funding necessary.		
Assiniboine Community College	Hospitality/Tourism, Rural Development, Business Administration.		
Bishop's University, Lennoxville Quebec	Business, Teacher Training, English /French ESL, Summer course offerings could be tailor made to specific needs		
British Columbia Institute of Technology	With TAFE as well as private VET colleges.		
Camosun College	Tourism, Hospitality Management, Mechanical Engineering, Nursing, Dental Hygiene, Early Childhood Education		

Table 3.1: Canadian suggestions of areas for the development of joint programs

Canadore College

Business, Information Technology, Hospitality, Interactive Multimedia, Biotechnology, Graphic Design, Law & Justice

Cabot College

Engineering technologies - biomedical, civil, geomatics, electronics, electrical etc.

Health sciences - lab tech, ultrasound, x ray etc

Business - marketing, accounting, management

Applied arts - graphic art, fine art, textiles etc.

Carleton University, Ottawa Business and applied language studies are obvious candidates but there may well be others such as Public Administration

Our college specialises in Tourism Management, Civil Aviation, Marketing, Marine Engineering, Environmental Management, these are the

Eastern College Business management, entrepreneurship, welding engineering technology, regional economic development, water resources technology

Georgian College

Humber College

Hospitality Management

 Keewatin Community B College te

Business Administration, Computer Analyst, Natural Resources technology, hospitality and tourism, Industrial Electrical & Electronics and Health

Langara College Pacific Rim Studies, Journalism, Display & Design, Environmental Studies, Native Studies, International Business, Social Work, Theatre Arts, Women's Studies, Canadian Studies.

most popular programs for international students

Laurentian University Mining and mineral processing and extractive metallurgy, international business, health, nursing, political science, child & development studies, human movement (kinesiology, outdoor adventure leadership)

MacMaster University, Hamilton Ontario Engineering is the field of study that first comes to mind. Discussions with other Faculty Deans would not doubt identify other potential areas in which joint programs could be offered.

Medicine Hat College English, Business, Travel & Tourism, Teacher Education, Communications studies, Management, Trades, Visual Communication.

Mohawk College Hospitality & tourism, International Business development

New Brunswick Hospitality & tourism, fisheries, aquaculture Community College - St Andrews

New Brunswick Community College - St John

Electronics, Mechanical engineering, business, computing, Health & Human development,

New BrunswickGraphic Arts, Journalism, Digital communications, photography, radioCommunity College -broadcasting, video/TV production, agricultureWoodstock

Education linkages between Canada and Australia

Nova Scotia Agricultural College	Distance education programs.
Ryerson Polytechnic University	Business Management, International Trade, Hospitality & Tourism Management, Urban and Regional Planning, Communication Studies, Early Childhood Education.
Seneca College	International business, all types of computer programs, if sufficient student interest exists any program can be considered.
SIAST	Hospitality, Graphic Arts, Business, Computer technology, Agriculture and Health Sciences
South Winnipeg Technical Centre	Entrepreneurship, Computer Systems Technician, Network Support Technicians.
Southern Alberta Institute of Technology	Engineering technologies, Hospitality, Business, Health, Apprenticeship trades
St Clair College	International business, Information technology, Manufacturing & Industrial Technology
University College of Cape Breton, Nova Scotia	UCCB is a polytechnic institution offering a range of diplomas as well as degrees. We are a leader in Canada in credit transfer, especially in technical programs. This would interest us
Westviking College	2 year community studies

Any absence of University level programs in Table 3.1 does not reflect a lack of interest by the Canadian universities. It is more a measure of the relatively strong response to this question item by the Community Colleges. It was noted by the Community Colleges that the Australian TAFE College system was a suitable partner in developing such programs. As the Vancouver Community College explained in response to the suggestion that they consider establishing joint programs or courses with Australian institutions:

"We have had numerous visits from staff and administrators from TAFE Colleges. We would welcome this activity".

Offshore Teaching Programs

The Canadian institutions were provided with a summary of the discussions which had taken place in Australia over the idea of institutions from the two countries collaborating to establish and run offshore teaching programs in third countries. Examples of how this might work were given. The Canadian institutions were then asked whether they were willing to consider working with an Australian institution in establishing a joint offshore teaching program in a target market. Seventy-six percent of the responding institutions indicated that they would be willing to do so. A further 14 per cent said no and the remainder were uncertain.

When asked for comment on which particular course or programs they considered would be suitable for offshore development, and which third countries they viewed as

Institute for Research into International Competitiveness (IRIC) Curtin Business School, Curtin University of Technology GPO Box U1987, Perth WA 6001. Tel: (09) 351-2843, Fax: (09) 351-2872.

worth considering a number of interesting responses were given. For example, Carleton University suggested that they would be interested in developing offshore teaching programs in the fields of Business and Applied Language Studies. They suggested that Australia and Canada might consider jointly targeting Latin America in particular Mexico.

The Royal Roads University expressed an interest in combining with an Australian university in delivering its Bachelor of Commerce and MBA programs, as well as its Environmental Science (BSc). They felt, however, that they may still prefer to work with another Canadian institution.

Ryerson Polytechnic University saw opportunities for developing offshore teaching programs with Australia institutions in such areas as Public Administration, Business Management, Engineering, Communications studies and Information Technology.

Assiniboine Community College saw opportunities for joint offshore programs in Malaysia, Indonesia and "Anglophone Africa" for hospitality and tourism, rural development, computer technology and business administration courses.

The Algonquin College of Applied Arts and Technology suggested that ESL and TESL programs might offer potential for joint ventures in Asia. They felt that the human resources were relatively easy to assemble, but that capital investment might pose a problem. These views were supported by Cabot College of Applied Arts and Technology who suggested China offered good potential for ESL programs. The British Columbia Institute of Technology was more sombre and wrote:

"Course/Program areas would depend on the match between solid market demand and our joint program strengths. Business is easiest. Technical programs might be most contributory in the longer term".

Camosun College said that they would be interested in working with Australian joint venture partners in establishing offshore teaching programs in China and Viet Nam. They suggested that Early Childhood Education, Tourism and Hospitality and ESL/EFL language programs would be the ones to start with.

Eastern College of Applied Arts and Technology stated that it had experience of running offshore programs in Thailand, Viet Nam, Tanzania and Malawi. The college was able to offer programs in engineering technologies, business studies, trades and university transfer or foundation studies. It indicated that it would be willing to consider offshore joint ventures with Australian institutions. Georgian College held similar views. They were already working in a number of Asian countries and were willing to collaborate with Australian institutions to further develop these markets.

Keewatin Community College in Manitoba expressed an interest in working offshore with Australian institutions. They identified teacher training programs for technical college faculty as one area that might be developed. Other areas included training administrative assistants, nurses and in college or university foundation studies. St Clair College also saw opportunities in China, Korea, Taiwan and India for the delivery of "machine and manufacturing technologies". 11

Georgian College, Fanshawe College, Kwantlen College and Langara College all expressed interest in developing offshore joint ventures with Australian institutions in the ELICOS/ESL area. Langara College also saw potential in a broad range of areas such as environmental studies, health sciences, international business, nutrition and food service management, real estate appraisal and property management, computer science and "programs for women".

Loyalist College in Belleville, Ontario suggested that they would like to joint with Australian institutions in offshore delivery of media studies, environmental engineering, early childhood education and gerontology. Medicine Hut College suggested teacher education, and visual communications as well as those already mentioned. Mohawk College thought that India and the ASEAN countries, especially Malaysia offered some potential for joint ventures. They felt that any such program should require "high knowledge and lower physical resources". Presumably to ensure that high capital equipment costs did not make the programs financially viable.

The New Brunswick Community College - St John summarised the overall mood of the Canadian response to the idea of establishing joint venture offshore with Australia when they wrote:

"At present we are involved in bilateral agreements with Jordan and soon China. There is interest in this notion of joint teaching programs. However, more study would have to be undertaken before developing such programs".

These reservations were also shared by Seneca College who noted that while they did not reject the idea of collaboration in offshore programs with Australian institutions, they would require more information. Much would depend upon the target market, the type of business agreement drawn up, who the Australian partner was to be, how costs and revenues would be shared and any governance provisions required.

Project Work

The survey described the notion of project work to the Canadian institutions and gave a summary of the level of interest in collaborative project work identified by the Australian institutions. The Canadian universities and colleges were asked to indicate whether they would be willing to consider working with an Australian institution in tendering for joint project work in third countries for projects funded by such groups as the Asian Development Bank or World Bank.

The majority respondents (80%) were positive about the idea of collaborating with Australian institutions over joint projects in third countries. As the University College of Cape Breton commented:

"We have modest experience in Africa and South America and as a polytechnic are able to offer practical technical training and services which most Canadian universities cannot. We would welcome the opportunity to collaborate with an Australian university".

Institute for Research into International Competitiveness (IRIC) Curtin Business School, Curtin University of Technology GPO Box U1987, Perth WA 6001. Tel: (09) 351-2843, Fax: (09) 351-2872. 52

Carleton University also indicated that they were willing to consider collaboration with Australian institutions over project work. They noted that they were a member of the Canadian Higher Education Group (CHEG) which includes the University of Guelph, McMaster University, University of Waterloo and University of Western Ontario. The CHEG was established to provide a permanent alliance of the universities and a private sector organisation, the Hickling Corporation. CHEG seeks to target overseas projects using its combined resources for success. The group has undertaken a range of projects in over twenty-five countries in Africa, Asia and Latin America. According to Carleton:

"We could consider a partnership with an Australian institution or group of institutions on individual projects, but at present Australia is a major competitor for us."

McMaster University was also positive towards the idea of undertaking project work with Australians. They indicated that they had already collaborated with Curtin University of Technology for a program in computer-science in Sri Lanka. Royal Roads University was also positive, but they expressed some concern over the administration of joint tendering for projects. Who would assume responsibility of project leader, how would consultants and other experts be selected for participation in the projects ?

Both the Technical University of Nova Scotia and Ryerson Polytechnic University expressed a willingness to collaborate with Australian institutions over projects. Ryerson noted that it had already participated in a number of projects funded by the World Bank and Economic Development Institute of the World Bank and would be willing to do so again with Australia. By contrast the Trinity Western University in Langley British Columbia was unwilling to enter into joint programs, offshore teaching or project work with Australia. The appeared to have some difficulties in accommodating any additional work stating that:

"We cannot handle any more international agreements at the present time and turned down an opportunity to do so with a new Australian educational initiative".

In the College sector the level of interest in project work was high with 86 per cent of responding colleges positive on the idea of collaboration with Australia. Algonquin College said that it was a member of a consortium of colleges - Algonquin, Humber, George Brown and Connestoga - led by the Hickling Corporation. This consortium was known as the Canadian Technical Vocational Group (CTVG). It grouped Colleges from the Toronto area. Similar in concept to the CHEG, the CTVG had already won a World Bank contract and were short listed for several ADB contracts in Asia. According to Algonquin, "A joint venture with an Australian partner would be of great interest".

Cabot College of Applied Arts and Technology stated that it had projects in India, China, Lithuania, Peru, Yemen and Libya. It had developed a highly successful corporate training model which they had been operating for some four years. They said they would "welcome the opportunity to work with Australia in this regard". Their views were supported by the British Columbia Institute of Technology which stated that it was "definitely !" in favour of collaborative project work with Australia.

The Georgian College said that it was also supportive of joint project work. The college was already engaged in collaborative project work with institutions or partners in the United States, United Kingdom, China and Central America. They indicated that they "would welcome some Australian partners". Fanshawe College agreed and noted that the Association of Canadian Community Colleges (ACCC) had already established some precedent for collaboration with Australia. Mohawk College said that they were already engaged in a World Bank project and would be "delighted to work collaboratively in this area". The New Brunswick College - Woodstock were "extremely interested in such a partnership". Langara College went even further with the following comment:

"We feel strongly that tendering with an Australian partner would greatly enhance our ability to win a project opportunity. We also feel that working cross-culturally with an Australian partner would add another positive dimension to our association".

Other institutions were less enthusiastic. The Southern Alberta Institute of Technology said that they "did this already". Camosun College was not sure about project work. While "generally supportive" they questioned the practicality of joint management of projects which brought together institutions separated by such distance. New Brunswick College-St Andrews and the South Winnipeg Technical Centre (SWTC) were also uncertain. The SWTC stated that they were primarily interested in instruction. They did not wish to commit themselves to projects where it would be difficult for them to effectively deliver the services required. St Claire College, while in support of collaborative project work felt that any collaboration would require a "fair share" of the management power and compensation. They observed that many Canadian colleges were already in direct competition with each other for such project work.

The CANZIEG Concept

The questionnaire also gave a detailed explanation of the idea of establishing a Canada, Australia, New Zealand International Education Group (CANZIEG) to provide a forum for exchange of information on international student flows, accreditation, quality control measures and marketing. The idea of the CANZIEG forum assisting with quality assurance and future cooperation between institutions was outlined, as was the idea of holding an annual conference.

Seventy-four per cent of the responding institutions indicated that they were supportive of the idea encompassed by CANZIEG. A further 19 per cent were unsure. The universities were more likely to be unsure of their support for CANZIEG than the colleges. Eighty-six per cent of the colleges were in favour of the idea, while half the universities were in favour and half were unsure. An indication of the views of the institutions may be gauged from the following list of comments which we have produced in full due to their self-explanatory nature:

Institute for Research into International Competitiveness (IRIC) Curtin Business School, Curtin University of Technology GPO Box U1987, Perth WA 6001. Tel: (09) 351-2843, Fax: (09) 351-2872.

Education linkages between Canada and Australia

"The concept is quite congruent with current institutional initiatives (on the international level) at Seneca" - Seneca College.

"In principle, Ryerson would be interested in the concept of CANZIEG. The idea needs to be fully developed and articulated before a final commitment is made" - Ryerson Polytechnic University.

"This discussion should take place at a different level, for example with the Asia Pacific Foundation and the related Canadian Education Centres" - McMaster University.

"Again much would depend upon the administration details and the costs involved. In a period of more financial constraint it is difficult to take on additional tasks" -Carleton University.

"Bishop's would be very supportive of a collaborative venture by Canada, Australia and New Zealand. Programmes are well-matched and credit transfers are facilitated with the assurance of academic quality at the highest level" - Bishop's University.

"Competition is already quite tough among the three countries. It is important to focus on common interests and areas where we compliment rather than compete" - St Clair College.

"This would be interesting and useful for student flow and accreditation. We are supportive of the idea for project work" - Vancouver Community College.

"The idea is great, but we would have only limited financial resources to commit. Therein is our problem; we are a relatively small organisation, and thus limited in our capacity to participate internationally. We will try to utilise information technologies to gain maximum impact" - South Winnipeg Technical Centre.

"Fees for membership are a concern" - Southern Alberta Institute of Technology.

"Such an information exchange would be very valuable to institutions in the three countries. It would also be of value to utilise current technologies for colleges such as ours, which are not within the Asia-Pacific Region, but are located on Canada's east coast and are closer to Europe than the Pacific. With the use of such technologies, distance may not be as limiting to participation as they presently are" - New Brunswick Community College - St John.

"The idea is appealing to offset the huge U.S. initiative. From a marketing point, it could be a welcome shift from the to-date competitive stance taken by each nation. As with most collaborative efforts, the overall quality of service will increase in each country. The CANZIEG "block" would be a substantial force in the education sphere given the collective experience of all the players. For Canadians, we may work better together given a reason to work collaboratively with other nations. Our provincial education mandate generally works against our competition" - Langara College.

"Very enthusiastic about this concept" - College of New Caledonia.

"The high cost of travel to participate in meetings or conferences would prohibit our involvement" - Canadore College of Applied Arts and Technology.

"The focus of the CANZIEG Forum and issues identified in the previous page (of the survey questionnaire) are of significant interest to our college. Thus, we will welcome any opportunity to participate in the Forum. In the interest of reducing the financial burden to participating organizations, perhaps the site for the CANZIEG can be rotated between host countries" - Keewatin Community College.

"It is important to work on these items, but remember that there are so many organisation's trade fairs, education fairs and associations, conferences now that our resources both physical and financial are extended to the limit" - Georgian College.

"I believe that the existence of such an organisation would be beneficial to all of us, and could then provide the relationships upon which future work could be built" -Camosun College.

It is apparent from the preceding comments that the response from the Canadian institutions toward the CANZIEG concept was generally positive. Concerns over the possible cost of membership or conference attendance are understandable and will require further consideration. However, these concerns cannot overshadow the level of enthusiasm expressed by the Canadian respondents.

PART FOUR: THE STUDENT PERSPECTIVE

Introduction

Face to face in-depth interviews and focus groups were held with students in seven institutions encompassing both higher education, vocational education and training and ELICOS programs. These students included both international full-fee paying students and Australian Commonwealth funded students. A survey was also conducted with both domestic and international students in twelve institutions throughout Australia. This provided a final sample of 879 responses. This section examines the findings of these investigations.

Focus group discussions

In general the students were positive towards the idea of studying in Canada. This was most pronounced among the international students. For the Australian students, the main obstacle was a lack of funds to study abroad. When asked to account for the reasons why they had not chosen Canada as a study destination, the international students most commonly responded that they lacked sufficient information about Canadian education. Many of these students were unaware of the existence of the Canadian Education Centres (CECs) in their home countries, and it should be noted that these CECs may not have been established prior to the student leaving home.

Access to information on Canadian study options:

International students from Korea, Indonesia and Malaysia expressed the view that information on study opportunities in Canada were not as readily available as information regarding study in Australia, the United Kingdom or United States. It appeared, however, that Canada was well known to students from Singapore and Japan. Canadian qualifications were highly regarded in Singapore, but as one Singaporean university student explained, Canada was ranked third behind the UK and USA as a study destination.

Attraction of "American English":

Korean and Japanese students were particularly enthusiastic about Canada as a place to learn English with a "proper" accent (meaning a North American accent). It was their view that the ability to speak English with a North American accent was indeed important, especially for Korean graduates who aspired to be hired by American multi-national companies based in Korea. This view was articulated by one Korean student who had graduated from a Korean university and was in Australia completing an ELICOS course. He expressed confidence that his English language skills would enable him to secure a job with an American company, he said that he had not gone to Canada to study English because he had been unable to secure a visa.

Visa issues:

The issuing of visas was raised as a reason why several other international students had not chosen Canada as a place to study. An Indian student explained that he had been invited to attend a conference in Canada but had been refused a visa upon application. It remains unclear as to what influence Canadian immigration and visa regulations have upon student the flow of international students to that country. Discussions with Canadian immigration officials at the Canadian High Commission in Canberra did not resolve the matter. It was the view of the Canadian officials that no special restrictions applied to students from India or Korea and that until the individual case could be examined it would be difficult to explain why a particular individual did not succeed in getting a visa.

According to a survey conducted by *Language Travel Gazette* of international students enrolled in Canadian ESL programs, 43 per cent of Asian students expressed dissatisfaction with the visa application process (LTG, 1996). Korean students expressed the most dissatisfaction with the Canadian visa process followed by students from Taiwan.

Australia's visa regulations require that all international students (except New Zealand citizens) must obtain visas to travel to Australia. Since 1990 student visas have been streamlined into two types:

- Category A primary or secondary school courses registered with State/Territory authorities, or post-secondary courses formally accredited and leading to an award granted by an institution generally at associate diploma, diploma or degree levels;
- Category B any other registered course (DEET, 1992).

The introduction of a "one class system" for international students has been widely welcomed by the industry. However, concerns continue to exist over the time such processing takes (Logan, 1995), and the lack of standardised treatment of visa applications by DILGEA representatives in overseas missions (Guinery, 1995).

Access to part time work:

One of the attractions Australia appears to have had over Canada as an overseas study destination was the generous work provisions allowed under the Australian student visas. Australian visa regulations enable international students to undertake a maximum of 20 hours per week during semesters and full-time during vacations (DEET, 1992). While many of the overseas students take up part time or casual jobs during their stay in Australia, many do not work at all. For most students with whom we spoke the opportunity to work was "nice to have, in case you need it".

Geographic proximity:

As discussed in Part One, the close geographic proximity of Australia to many countries in the Asia-Pacific region is a major factor influencing their decision to study there. The discussions with international students in Australia supported this

view. It was also noted that Canada was not selected by many due to its greater geographic distance from their home countries. Climate was also seen as a negative issue for Canada. Students from countries such as Indonesia, Malaysia or Singapore found Australia convenient due to its warmer climate and closer geographic proximity. However, as these students completed their studies in Australia, many expressed interest in further education in Canada. The main barrier to their continuing their studies in that country would be the availability of financial support as many had exhausted their resources on their current study programs.

۱ :

Perceptions of Canada as a study destination:

Many of the students did not seem to have a clear idea of what Canada had to offer as an 'overseas study destination. This appeared to be partly related to a lack of marketing and promotion of Canadian institutions. Most students were unable to name a Canadian university. They did not recall studying a text book written by a Canadian author. Further, they had no idea as to the costs associated with studying in Canada. The majority of students thought it was much more expensive to study in Canada than it was in Australia. An engineering student from Malaysia, for example, had the impression that studying at a Canadian university was not only more expensive than an Australian one, but that the facilities were inferior. While most students agreed that Canada was a safer place to live than the United States, a few felt that Canada was dangerous, especially in the China town of Vancouver.

Canada was generally regarded as a very beautiful country. The image of Canada as a lush green environment with campuses set in classic gardens with rolling lawns and park like settings was appealing. There was strong preference among the Asian students for "large campuses with lawns and trees". This finding supports other research into international student selection of Canada as a study destination (LTG, 1996).

Another positive aspect of Canada's image expressed by the students was the view that Canada was somehow more "westernised" than Australia. This appears to reflect a commonly held view among Asian students that contemporary western civilisation is centred in North America. This could be a useful source of competitive advantage for Canada over Australia. As one commerce student from Hong Kong described her feelings, for those students who wanted to learn "different" things and return home feeling and looking "different", a Canadian education was attractive. Canada was also seen as a multi-cultural society and the large Asian population living in Vancouver was particularly well known among international students from Asia.

A surprising finding was that the proximity of Canada to the United States did not seem to be of great importance to the undergraduate international students as an attraction. It was felt that many students might view Canada as a staging point for visits into the United States during their studies. Most of the students with whom we spoke indicated that they would return home to seek employment in their own country upon completion of they courses.

Summary of focus group findings:

In summary, these focus groups suggest that Canada may not be selected by many international students due to a lack of adequate information about study options. Without more input from a larger sample it is difficult to drawn definitive conclusions. However, these discussions highlight a general interest in Canada as a study destination among international students.

Literature on the marketing of services suggests that "the evoked set of alternatives, that group of products which a consumer considers acceptable options in a given product category, is likely to be smaller with services that with goods" (Zeithaml, 1991). It is therefore important for Canadian institutions to engage in marketing and promotional campaigns that can provide "top-of-the-mind" awareness among the students and their parents or advisers. These focus groups with international students in Australia indicate that Canada was not yet included in their "evoked set of alternatives" as a study destination.

Student Survey

During October and November of 1996 a survey was distributed throughout a dozen Australian colleges and universities. Participating institutions were Curtin University of Technology, the Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology, University of Western Sydney, Monash University, Edith Cowan University, Macquarie University, Murdoch University, University of Melbourne, the Australian Institute of University Studies, The Centre for English Language Learning (RMIT), and TAFE College students in Queensland. Some questionnaires were mailed directly to students while others were distributed by academic staff during classes. A final useable sample was collected from 879 students.

Sample demographics:

Just over half the sample (53%) were international students of whom 69 per cent were studying in Australia for the first time. Fifty-five per cent of the sample were female and the average age of the students was 24 years. Ages ranged from 16 years to 64 years.

The majority of the students (88%) were enrolled within their institutions on a fulltime basis. Eighty-one per cent of the students were enrolled in undergraduate programs, 15 per cent in post-graduate programs and remainder in ELICOS, postsecondary diploma courses or other programs.

Due to the "convenience" nature of the sampling method used it was not possible to control the subject areas of the respondents. Eighty-four per cent of the students were enrolled in business, administration or economics programs. While this may appear to be a bias in the sample towards this particular field of study, it should be noted that in 1995 just over 71 per cent of international students enrolled in Australian institutions were studying business, administration or economics programs (DEET, 1996:15).

Table 4.1 compares the subject areas studied by the international students in sample with those from the true population of international students in Australia in 1995. It can be seen that despite the sampling method used the final proportions representing each subject area were equivalent to the true population.

	-	,
Field of Study	Sample pop international students	Total international students - Australia
Architecture, Building	0.0%	0.7%
Arts, Humanities and Social Sciences	4.6%	8.1%
Business, Administration & Economics	74.0%	71.4%
Education	2.1%	0.4%
Engineering and Surveying	1.6%	7.6%
Health, Community services	2.3%	0.2%
Land & Marine Resources, Animal husbandry	0.2%	0.5%
Law and legal studies	0.0%	0.0%
Science	3.2%	3.4%
Veterinary Science	0.0%	0.0%
Other	6.5%	7.7%
Total	100.0%	100.0%

Table 4.1: Student fields of study - International student sample compared to	true
population of international students enrolled in Australia during 1995	

Source: (DEET, 1996)

International students country of preference:

Sixty-two per cent of the international students surveyed said that Australia had been their country of first choice. Of those international students who indicated that Australia was not their country of first choice, 55 per cent said that the United States had been. The United Kingdom was the first choice of 24 per cent of these students. Canada was the first choice of 11 per cent and New Zealand 3 per cent of the international students who had not chosen Australia as their first preference.

The students were asked to indicate key reasons why they did not go to their country of first choice. Nine reasons were provided in the questionnaire which had been identified in the earlier focus group discussions. Table 4.2 shows the results for each of the alternative study destinations. Distance and cost were listed as the most common reasons for the student having selected Australia rather than one of the alternative destinations. For Canada the issue of climate was signifcantly more important than for the other countries. As noted in Part One, Canada's image of having a cold, harsh climate serves as a deterrent for many Asian students particular those from tropical climate countries.

			-		·
Key reason for not going:	USA	UK	Canada	NZ	Other
Agent did not recommend	3.4%	5.4%	5.6%	- -	9.1%
Parents did not approve	23.0%	24.3%	27.8%	-	27.3%
Had no relatives/friends there	17.2%	13.5%	22.2%	20.0%	36.4%
Not enough information	11.5%	21.6%	27.8%	20.0%	36.4%
Qualifications not recognised*	8.0%	5.4%	11.1%	20.0%	36.4%
Culturally too different	4.6%	2.7%	5.6%	-	9.1%
Extreme climate*	3.4%	5.4%	22.2%	-	9.1%
Distance	35.6%	48.6%	55.6%	20.0%	18.2%
More expensive	34.5%	48.6%	27.8%	40.0%	27.3%
Other	24.1%	16.2%	11.1%		36.4%

 Table 4.2: Key reasons why international students did not go to their country of first

 preference [* indicates a significant difference between the responses for the five destinations].

Table 4.2 also highlights the influence of parents upon the final choice made by the students. Although not as important as distance or cost, it was relatively more important than the other reasons. A significant difference was also found (as measured by chi-square test to a level of 0.05) between the countries over the issue of whether qualifications would be recognised upon return home. The perception that the qualifications from Canada, New Zealand or other study destinations (eg. Japan, Germany) were not recognised was stronger than for the United States or United Kingdom. This suggests that the student may be poorly informed over the quality of Canadian education relative to that of the United States or Britain.

Future study intentions:

Just over half the international students in the sample (53%) indicated that they planned to continue on to further education once they had completed their present course. Among the Australian student group this proportion was 41 per cent which was found to be a significantly smaller percentage than among the international group.

Students were asked whether they would consider further study in a country other than Australia if they could afford to do so. Seventy per cent of the international students and 61 per cent of the Australian students indicated that they would do so. A chi-square test of the responses from these two groups found that the international students were more likely to respond positively to this idea than their Australian counterparts.

When asked to rank their preference for a future study destination after completing their courses in Australia, the United States was ranked as most preferred by both Australian and international students. In second place was the United Kingdom. International students were more likely to prefer the United Kingdom as an overseas study destination than were Australian students. Canada was ranked in third place. It was significantly more popular with Australian students than their international colleagues.

Australian post-graduate students:

Sixty-eight students in the sample (8%) were Australian post-graduates. Most of these students (57%) indicated that they would consider studying abroad if they could afford to do so. When asked if they would be able to pay full-fee costs for their courses if required, 32 per cent indicated that they could. When asked if they would consider studying at a post-graduate level overseas if they had to pay similar costs in Australia 39 per cent said they they would consider doing so.

The Australian post-graduate students did not significantly differentiate between the United States, Canada, the United Kingdom, New Zealand or other study destinations in terms of preference. It appears that they will consider all countries equally and have no pre-concieved bias.

Australia-Canada exchange programs:

Students were asked to indicate their level of interest in a range of potential study options which might be established between Australia and Canada. These encompassed study abroad options, joint programs, external study and delivery of Canadian programs via Australian institutions. The results of these questions are shown in Table 4.3 which also compares the responses from the Australian and international students.

differences between the groups at the 0.05 level as measured by t - tests].					
Option	Total sample	International students	Australian students		
	mean	mean	mean		
Study abroad programs spending short periods in Canada	5.10	5.24	4.95*		
Joint courses run by Australian & Canadian institutions	4.63	4.78	4.46*		
Foundation or bridging courses started in one country and completed in the other	4.47	4.15	3.80*		
Course offered by Canadian institution via Australian institution	4.05	4.10	3.56*		
External study from Canadian university for credit to Australian program	3.98	4.66	4.26*		
Post-graduate supervision from a Canadian university	3.84	4.14	.3.88		

 Table 4.3: Student interest in future Australia-Canada study linkages

[mean scores rated 1 = not at all interested, 7 = extremelly interested] [* indicates significant differences between the groups at the 0.05 level as measured by t - tests].

The option of undertaking study abroad programs in Canada while studying in Australia was considered the most interesting to the overall sample. International students showed significantly more interest in this option than did Australian students.

Courses which would be run jointly between an Australian and a Canadian institution in which the student commenced the course in one country and completed it in

another was the next most interesting option. Once again the international students found this option significantly more interesting than did their Australian counterparts.

With the exception of the notion of post-graduate students having Canadian supervisors, international students were generally more interested in these options than were the Australians. Nevertheless the Australian students were mostly positive towards the ideas.

Conclusions from the survey:

The findings from this survey suggest that while Australia is the first preference for many international students, it is chosen by others who would rather go elsewhere. Their decsion to chose Australia is due to its geographic proximity, mild climate and the influence of family and relatives. Canada does not appear to be prominent among the international students who come to Australia as a preferred study destination. It would seem to suffer from its image of having a harsh climate and being a long distance from Asia.

A relatively large proportion of students (both international and Australian) are planning to undertake further study programs and many seem interested in considering completing this study outside Australia. Although most Australian students are unlikely to possess the financial resources to study overseas, there may be sufficent numbers to justify a targeted marketing effort by Canadian institutions.

Finally, the level of student interest in the various study opportuntities outlined in Table 4.3 was high. This should be encouraging to both Australian and Canadian institutions considering the development of future links in these areas. While this survey should not be considered a definitive study, it does offer a useful insight into the general perceptions of students towards the concepts discussed elsewhere in this report.

PART FIVE: THE POLICY IMPLICATIONS

Introduction

Given the increasing trend in the world economy away from an industrial goods-based paradigm and into an information-knowledge based one, the global education and training industry is likely to be one of the most important for the next millenium. Assessments of the projected growth in the world's international education industry suggest that by the year 2010 there will be 2.8 million international students throughout the world. This number will be expected to grow to 4.9 million by 2025, of whom 59 per cent will come from Asia (Blight, 1995). Trade in international education has been valued at US\$28 billion in 1996 and is estimated to grow to over US\$88 billion by the year 2025 (Humphries and Ramezani, 1996).

Canada and Australia are important participants in this newly emerging global education and training industry. Its features are a lack of national boundaries and a willingness for its student customers to seek out the best value for money services and invest heavily over a four to five year period. The motivation for the student customer is the long term financial returns to their investment in education. Although a somewhat contentious issue, the available research suggests that the returns for most international students are substantial (Lewis, 1992; Lewis and Shea, 1994). Further, as many people will require continual education and training throughout their lives the industry is well placed for long term sustainability.

The findings from this study suggest that there is strong interest within Canadian and Australian education institutions for greater collaboration in this industry. Equally important are the results of the student survey which indicate that there is also strong interest from the potential client base for these initiatives.

Compete or Collaborate ?

Before considering the possible future actions which might stem from this research, it is worthwhile pausing to consider whether it would be better for Canada and Australia to compete or collaborate. This is an important question as the findings from this research suggest that the competitive orientation is strongly entrenched within many institutions, particularly among those in Australia. Should competitiveness dominate any future relationship between the two countries, the chances of effectively realising the potential offered by the collaborative opportunities will be lost.

As noted in Part One of this report, Canada has experienced a relative decline in its market share when compared to Australia. At the same time Australia's overall growth in international students has been significantly positive and against the trend in most other major supplier countries (Kemp, 1990, 1995). Australia's international education industry is justifiably proud of its achievements over the past ten years. The revenues from international student fees have now become an important source of income to Australia's higher education institutions. They are already essential to most of the non-government post-secondary colleges.

Education linkages between Canada and Australia

However, with the erosion of government funding for higher education in Australia, the dependence upon international student fees is becoming even more important. Faced with the prospect of reduced government financial support and the need to replace that income from fee paying students (both international and domesitc), it is not surprising to find reluctance among Australian institutions towards collaboration with Canada.

The argument in favour of competition appears to be based around the inherent risk of diluting the brand image that has been developed at considerable cost by both countries. According to this view collaboration via joint promotion in third country markets is fraught with risk for institutions in both countries. Successful promotional strategies should seek to brand and position the two countries and their institutions as attractive study alternatives in their own right. For Australia and Canada to work together may confuse the market and diminish the profile of both countries.

In considering the question of whether to collaborate or compete, the following points should be noted:

- Australia's growth rate in international student enrolments has been from a low base and appears to be slowing down in recent years (Unesco, 1992; 1996; DEET, 1992-1996). It is questionable whether Australia can sustain annual growth rates in excess of 10 per cent. Further, even if Australia does manage to maintain such growth it is unlikely that its relatively small education sector will be able to indefinately absorb such flows of overseas students.
- Canada's relative decline has occured against a background of a poorly coordinated national marketing effort within that country. Evidence suggests that Canada is now awakening to the need for a concentrated and nationally coordinated international marketing strategy. Canada has a much larger "supply-side" than Australia with more institutions and potentially greater capacity to absorb international students.
- The major competitors in the international market place are the United States and the United Kingdom. Both these countries - in particular the United Kingdom are beginning to treat international education as an important export industry. Enhanced marketing efforts by these two major players is likely to pose a more significant threat to both Australia and Canada than either of these two do to each other.
- This research suggests that Australia holds a competitive advantage over many of its competitors including Canada due to its geographic proximity to many key markets in Asia. Other factors such as a mild climate and the perception of being a low cost study destination are also important. However, the relative cost of Canadian education is highly competitive with that of Australia. Enhanced information flows to prospective students via a well managed and professional Canadian marketing effort could see that country claw back some of its market share from Australia.

Institute for Research into International Competitiveness (IRIC) Curtin Business School, Curtin University of Technology GPO Box U1987, Perth WA 6001. Tel: (09) 351-2843, Fax: (09) 351-2872.

Increased competition between Canada and Australia for international students implies the existence of a "Zero sum game" whereby a finite number of students are attracted to either country. What this study has attempted to demonstrate is that via collaboration, institutions from Canada and Australia can actually enhance their market share. The results of the student survey outlined in Part Four suggest that there is potentially strong interest by students in many of the initiatives proposed by this study. These initiatives offer institutions an opportunity to attract students to undertake short study abroad programs and joint courses that will have financial benefits to both countries.

A final and most important reason to select collaboration over competition relates to the outlook for international education in the next century. The transition from narrowly focused, nationally based economic systems toward globally oriented borderless ones is a feature of the late 20th century (Ohmae, 1994). International education and training will need to embrace this transition in order to remain competitive and relevant. Through collaboration Canada and Australia can enhance the internationalisation of their respective education systems, and position themselves in the eyes of their prospective overseas markets as quality destinations which offer a pathway to truly global education.

, Future action required

Several initiatives for the enhancement of collaboration between Canada and Australia in the field of international education have been outlined in this study. These initiatives range from the relatively simple exchange of promotional materials to the development of joint programs. As the responses from the various institutions in the two countries show, there appears to be a strong interest on both sides for these initiatives.

In Annex A of this report we have provided a list of all the individual institutions and organisations who participated in the study. This list is provided in order that the reader may take the opportunity to contact their colleagues in Canada or Australia and seek to develop these initiatives further on an individual basis.

However, in addition to any indivdual institutional actions it is suggested that a degree of leadership is required from Government or industry groups to to fully develop these initiatives further. The Government of Canada, via its Department of Foreign Affairs and International Trade (DFAIT) has been responsible for commissioning this study. It is to be hoped that the Australian Commonwealth Government via its various agencies, the Australian State and Territory authorities and the Provincial Governments of Canada will seek to support these initiatives.

References

- ABS (1992). Education and Training in Australia. Australian Bureau of Statistics, AGPS, Canberra.
- ABS (1996). "Education Australia At A Glance", ABS Statistics, http://www.statistics.gov.au/D3110124/2632.htm, Australian Bureau of Statistics.
- Agarwal, V. B., and Winkler, D.R. (1985). "Foreign Demand for United States Higher Education: A Study of Developing Countries in the Eastern Hemisphere." *Economic Development and Cultural Change* 33(3) : 623-644.
- APEC (1994). School Education Statistics in the Asia-Pacific Region. Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation Human Resources Development Working Group Education Forum, DEET, AGPS, Canberra.
- APFC (1996). APFWeb. History and Mandate, Asia-Pacific Foundation of Canada, http://www.wofund.com/apfweb/index.html.
- Asia Facts (1996). "Teaching English in the Asia Pacific", http://asiafacts.kingston.net#Asia needs, Asia Facts Unlimited.
- BCCIE (1996). The British Columbia Centre for International Education, http://www.casd.bc.ca/bccie, Vancouver.
- Beasley, K. C. (1992). International Education in Australia Through the 1990's. statement released September, AGPS, Canberra.
- Beasley, K. C. (1993). The Australian International Education Foundation. Press Release of the Minister for Employment, Education and Training, AGPS, Canberra.
- Blight, D. (1995). International Education: Australia's Potential Demand and Supply, IDP Education Australia, Canberra.
- Carruthers, F. (1993). "AECs Functions May Be Split Up." The Australian Wednesday, September 15: 15.
- CICIC (1996). Postsecondary Education Systems in Canada. Volume I Overview, 1995-96, , Canadian Information Centre for International Credentials, http://www.cmec.ca/cicic/posted.htm.
- Davis, D. (1995). "Comparative Analysis of Costs of Postgraduate Courses for Overseas Students in Australia, New Zealand, the UK, Canada and the US". Occasional Paper No.12, *Higher Education Series*, Canberra, Department of Employment, Education and Training.

- Davis, T. M., Ed. (1995). Open Doors 1994/95 Report on International Educational Exchange. Institute of International Education, New York.
- DCT (1993). Industry Marketing Strategy: Department of Commerce and Trade International Trade in Professional Services. May, Department of Commerce and Trade, Perth.
- DEET (1992). International Students Policy Handbook, August 1992. Department of Employment, Education and Training, AGPS, Canberra.
- DEET (1993). Review of Australian Education Centres, vol 2, Department of Employment, Education and Training, Canberra.
- DEET (1994). Overseas Student Statistics 1993, AGPS, Canberra.
- DEET (1995). Overseas Student Statistics 1994. International Division, Department of Employment, Education and Training, AGPS, Canberra.
- DEET (1996). Overseas Student Statistics 1995. Department of Employment Education and Training, International Division, AGPS, Canberra.
- ELICOS (1995). A Study of the ELICOS Industry in Australia 1994, Asia Pacific Access Pty Ltd, ELICOS Association Limited, Pyrmont.
- Evans, K. E. (1995). "Educational Services as a National Industry". in Open Doors 1994/95: Report on International Educational Exchange. T. M. Davis (Ed). Institute of International Education, New York: 117-118.
- Gale, G. (1995). Report on the visit by an Australian Delegation to the 1995 Annual Conference of the Association of Canadian Community Colleges, Victoria, BC 4-6 June 1995, , Unpublished, South East Metropolitan College of TAFE.
- Giles, K. (1996). Association of Canadian Community Colleges Annual Conference 26-28 May 1996, Unpublished Report, Wide Bay Institute of TAFE.
- Guinery, R. (1995). "Curriculum & Customs Training Network, Submission No. 15". in Inquiry into the Implications of Australia's Exports of Services to Indonesia and Hong Kong(Ed). Joint Standing Committee on Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade, Volume 1, No's 1-25: 115-121.
- Greenaway, D. and Tuck, J. (1996) Economic Impact of International Students in UK Higher Education: A report for the Committee of Vice-Chancellors and Principals, CVCP, University of Nottingham.
- Harris, D. R., and Rhall, T.M. (1993). Survey of International Students, , Department of Employment Education and Training, Braddon, ACT.
- Harris, G. T, and Jarrett, F.G. (1990) Educating Students in Australia: Who Benefits ?, Allen & Unwin, Sydney.

- Hogbin, G. R. (1988). Withering Heights: The State of Higher Education in Australia, Allen & Unwin, Sydney.
- Humphries, J. and Ramezani, A. (1996) Where The Students Are: An analysis of the major competing countries for the international student market, 1985 to 1995, Canadian Bureau for International Education (CBIE).
- IDP Ltd (1994). Comparative Analysis of Costs of Postgraduate Courses for Overseas Students in Australia, New Zealand, the UK, Canada and the US, DEET, EIP, AGPS, Canberra.
- Industry Commission (1991). "Exports of Educational Services", Report No.12, Canberra, AGPS.
- Kemp, S. (1990). Exporting Higher Education-International Flow of Students. Working Paper Series, , Curtin School of Economics and Finance.
- Kemp, S. (1995). *The Global Market for Foreign Students*. Paper presented at the 24th Conference of Economists, September 25-28, University of Adelaide, South Australia.
- Kinnell, M. (1989). "International Marketing in UK Higher Education: Some Issues in Relation to Marketing Educational Programmes to Overseas Students." *European Journal of Marketing* 23(5): 7-21.
- LEK (1994). Intelligent Exports: "...and the silent revolution in services". LEK Partnership, Australian Trade Commission, Sydney.
- Lewis, P. E. T. (1992). Singapore Students in Australia: What's a degree worth? Murdoch University Economic Programme Working Paper No.84, , Murdoch University, Perth.
- Lewis, P. E. T., and Shea, D.C. (1994). *Malaysian Demand for University Education in Australia*. Working Paper No. 46, November, Asia Research Centre, Murdoch University, Perth.
- Logan, M. I. (1995). " "Monash University", Submission No. 14". in Inquiry into the Implications of Australia's Exports of Services to Indonesia and Hong Kong(Ed). Joint Standing Committee on Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade, . Volume 1, No's 1-25: 111-114.
- LTG (1996). "Feedback Canada." Language Travel Gazette May-June : 13-17.
- Marshall, A., and Smart, D. (1991). Policy Paper No. 1: Submission to Industry Commission on draft report on exports of education services, , Asia Research Centre, Murdoch University, Perth.
- Mazzarol, T. W., and Soutar, G.N. (1996). Educating the Sleeping Giant: China's demand for international education, social and policy implications for

Institute for Research into International Competitiveness (IRIC) Curtin Business School, Curtin University of Technology GPO Box U1987, Perth WA 6001. Tel: (09) 351-2843, Fax: (09) 351-2872.

Australia. IRIC Discussion Paper Series, 96.02, Curtin University of Technology, Perth.

- Moore, P. G. (1989). "Marketing Higher Education." Higher Education Quarterly 43(2, Spring) : 108-124.
- MSS (1993). International Education: The Asia Pacific Region and Canada, , Minister of Supply and Services, Canada.
- Ohmae, K. (1994). The Borderless World: Power and Strategy in the Global Marketplace, Harper & Collins, London.
- Powell, S. (1994). "Lifestyle not cost the deciding factor." *The Weekend Australian* Higher Education Special Report, 30-31 July: 1-2.
- Scott, R. L. (1995). "International Students: Are Communities Paying Attention ?". in Open Doors 1994/95: Report on International Educational Exchange. T. M. Davis (Ed). Institute of International Education, New York: 108-109.
- Smart, D., and Ang, G. (1992a). Medium Term Market Opportunities for Australian Higher Education: A Pilot Survey of Singapore. Policy Paper 2, Asia Research Centre, Murdoch University, Perth.
- Smart, D. and Ang, G. (1995). Enhancing Australia's Recruitment of International Students: A Survey of Taiwan. Policy Paper No.15, May, Asia Research Centre, Murdoch University, Perth.
- Statistics Canada (1996). "Canadian Dimensions: The People", Statistics Canada, http://www.statcan.ca/Documents/English/Pgdb/People/educat.htm.
- Unesco (1992). Unesco Statistical Year Book 1992, U.N. Economic and Social Cooperation Organization, Paris.
- Unesco (1996). Unesco Statistical Year Book 1995, United Nations Economic and Social Cooperation Organisation & Bernan Press, Paris.
- Vanstone, A. (1996). *Higher Education Budget Statement*, DEETYA, http://www.deetya.gov.au/budget_statment/hedsst.htm.
- Williams, L. (1987). "Overseas Students in the United Kingdom: Some Recent Developments." *Higher Education Quarterly* **41**(2, Spring) : 107-118.
- Williams, L. (1988). "The 1988 White Paper on Higher Education." The Australian Universities Review 32(2) : 2-8.
- Windshuttle, K. (1988). Education in Canada: Statistical Comparisons with Australia. International comparisons of education and training statistics series 2, , AGPS, Canberra.
- Woodhall, M. (1987). "Government Policy Towards Overseas Students: An International Perspective." *Higher Education Quarterly* **41**(2, Spring) : 119-126.
- Woodhall, M. (1989). "Marketing British Higher Education Overseas: The Response to the Introduction of Full-Cost Fees." *Higher Education Quarterly* 43(2, Spring) : 142-159.

World Economic Forum (1996). World Competitiveness Report 1996, IMD, Geneva.

- Wu, T. T., and Waller, V. (1995). Fee-Paying Postgraduate Students, 1993. Higher Education Series, Report No. 23, Department of Employment, Education and Training, AGPS, Canberra.
- Zeithaml, V. A. (1991). "How Consumer Evaluation Processes Differ between Goods and Services". in *Services Marketing*. C. H. Lovelock (Ed). Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: 39-47.

Participating Institutions - Canada

Dr. Kelvin Ogilvie President Acadia University Box 1269 WOLFVILLE Nova Scotia B0P 1L0 Canada

Reverend Dr Gordon MacDermid Interim President Atlantic School of Theology 640 Franck Jyn St. HALIFAX Nova Scotia B3H 3B5 Canada (902) 423-6801 (902) 492-4048

Ms Janyne Hodder Principal Bishop's University PO Box 5000, Station Lennoxville LENNQXVILLE Quebec J1M 1Z7 Canada

Dr Terrance White President Brock University 500 Glenridge Ave ST CATHERINE'S Ontario L2S 3A1 Canada

Dr Frederick Lowy Rector and Vice-Chancellor Concordia University 1455 de Maisonneuve Blvd. West MONTREAL Québec H3G 1M8 Canada

Dr Tom Traves President & Vice-Chancellor Dalhousie University 1236 Henry Street HALIFAX Nova Scotia B3H 4H6 Canada (902) 494-2511 (902) 494-1658 Dr. Dominique Abrioux President Athabasca University Box 10,000, Station Main ATHABASCA Alberta T9S 1A1 Canada

Rev. Dr. Glen Johnson President Augustana University College 4901-46 Ave. CAMROSE Alberta T4V 2R3 Canada

Dr C. Dennis Anderson President Brandon University 270 -18th Street BRANDON Manitoba R7A 6A9 Canada

Dr Richard Van Loon President Carleton University 1506 Dunton Tower OTTAWA Ontario K1S 5B6 Canada

Rev Richard Kraemer President Concordia College 7128 Ada Blvd. NW EDMONTON Alberta T5B 4E4

Dr Henk W. H. Van Andel President The King's University College 9125-50 St., NW EDMONTON Alberta T6B 2H3 Canada

Dr R.G. Rosehart President Lakehead University 955 Oliver Road THUNDER BAY Ontario P7B 5E1 Canada (807) 343-8200 (807) 343-8075

Dr Bernard Shapiro Principal & Vice-Chancellor McGill University 845 Sherbrooke Street West MONTREAL Quebec H3A 2T5 Canada (514) 398-4180 (514) 398-4768

Dr A.W. May, O.C. President & Vice-Chancellor Memorial University of Newfoundland P.O. Box 4200, Station C ST JOHN'S Newfoundland A1C 5S7 Canada (709) 737-8212 (709) 737-2059

Dr. Ian Newbould President Mount Allison University SACKVILLE New Brunswick E0A 3C0

Professor Alice Mansell President Nova Scotia College of Art and Design 5163 Duke Street HALIFAX Nova Scotia B3J 3J6 Canada (902) 429-5358 (902) 429-4925

Dr Michael Fullan Dean Ontario Institute for Studies in Education of the University of Toronto 252 Bloor St. West TORONTO Ontario M5S 1V6 Canada Dr Ross Paul President /Recteur Laurentian University of Sudbury 935 Lake Ramsey Rd. SUDBURY Ontario P3E 2C6 Canada

Dr Peter George President McMaster University 1280 Main Street West HAMILTON Ontario L8S 4L8 Canada (905) 525-9140 ext 24340 (905) 522-3391

Dr Sheila A. Brown President & Vice-Chancellor Mount Saint Vincent University 166 Bedford Highway, Suite 1 HALIFAX Nova Scotia B3M 2J6 Canada (902) 457-6115 (902) 457-0096

Dr David Marshall President Nipissing University 100 CollegeDrive NORTH BAY Ontario P1B 8L7 Canada (705) 474-3450 (705) 474-1947

Dr. Leslie Haley Principal Nova Scotia Agricultural College P.O. Box 550, Station Main TRURO Nova Scotia B2N 5E3 Canada (902) 893-6600 (902) 897-9399

Dr William C. Leggett Principal & Vice-Chancellor Queen's University at Kingston 99 University Avenue KINGSTON Ontario o K7L 3N6 Canada (613) 5455-2200 (613) 545-6838

Dr. Justin Cooper President Redeemer College 777 Highway 53 East ANCASTER Ontario L9K 1J4

Dr B. John Plant Principal Royal Military College of Canada KINGSTON Ontario K7K 5L0 Canada (613) 541-6211 (613) 542-3565

Dr John O. Stubbs President & Vice-Chancellor Simon Fraser University 8888 Barnet Highway BURNABY British Columbia V5A 1S6 Canada (604) 291-4641 (604) 291-4860

br. Kenneth Ozmon President St. Mary's University 923 Robie Street HALIFAX Nova Scotia B3H 3C3

Mr Leonard Conolly President Trent University P.O. Box 4800, Station Main PETERBOROUGH Ontario K9J 7B8 Canada

Dr Charles Jago President University of Northern British Columbia 3333 University Way PRINCE GEORGE British Columbia V8W 2Y2 Canada MrDr Gerry Kelly Presiden and Vice-Chancellor Royal Roads University 2005 Sooke Road VICTORIA British Columbia V9B 5Y2 Canada (604) 391-2511 (604) 391-2500

Dr Claude Lajeunesse President Ryerson Polytechnic University 350 Victoria Street TORONTO Ontario M5B 2K3 Canada

Dr David Lawless President St. Francis Xavier University P.O. Box 5000, Station Main ANTIGONISH Nova Scotia B2G 2W5 Canada

Dr Edward Rhodes President Technical University of Nova Scotia P.O. Box 1000 HALIFAX Nova Scotia B3J 2X4 Canada

Dr R. Neil Snider President Trinity Western University 7600 Glover Road LANGLEY British Columbia V2Y 1Y1 Canada

Dr Rae McDonald International Relations Office Alberta International University of Alberta 1-2 University Hall EDMONTON Alberta T6G 2J9 Canada (403) 492-2958 (403) 492-1488

Dr Jacquelyn Thayer Scott President University College of Cape Breton PO Box 5300, Station A SYDNEY Nova Scotia B1P 6L2 Canada

Dr Elizabeth R. Epperly President University of Prince Edward Island 550 University Avenue CHARLOTTETOWN Prince Edward Island C1A 4P3 Canada (902) 566-0400 (902) 628-4311

Dr Marcel Hamelin Rector University of Ottawa P.O. Box 450 OTTAWA Ontario K1N 6N5 Canada

Dr. Donald Wells President University of Regina 3737 Wascana Parkway, Suite 100 REGINA Saskatchewan S4S 0A2 Canada (306) 585-5200

Dr. J. W. George Ivany President University of Saskatchewan 105 Administr ation Place SASKATOON Saskatchewan S7A 5A2 Canada

Dr David Strangway President University of British Columbia 2329 West Mall VANCOUVER British Columbia V6T 1W5 Canada Canada Dr David Strong President University of Victoria PO Box 3045 VICTORIA British Columbia V8W 3P4 Canada

Dr Ronald Ianni President University of Windsor 401 Sunset Avenue WINDSOR Ontario N9B 3P4 Canada

Dr Paul Davenport President & Vice-Chancellor University of Western Ontario 1151 Richmond Street LONDON Ontario N6A 5B8 Canada (519) 661-3106 (519) 661-3139

Dr Keith Winter Acting President University of Calgary 2500 University Drive NW CALGARY Alberta T2N 1N4 Canada Canada

Dr. Robin Armstrong President University of New Brunswick P.O. Box 4400, Station A FREDERICTON New Brunswick E3B 5A3 Canada

Dr Howard Tennant President University of Lethbridge 4401 University Dr West LETHBRIDGE Alberta T1K 3M4 Canada Canada

Dr Arnold Naimark President University of Manitoba 66 Chancellor's Circle WINNIPEG Manitoba R3T 2N2 Canada

Dr Mordechai Rozanski President University of Guelph 50 Stone Rd East, Suite 158 GUELPH Ontario N1G 2W1 Canada

Dr James Downey President University of Waterloo 200 University Avenue West WATERLOO Ontario N2L 3G1 Canada

br Susan Mann President York University 4700 Keele Street NORTH YORK Ontario M3J 1P3 Canada

The President Alberta Vocational College - Edmonton Canada Fax No: (403) 427-5484

The President Algonquin College of Applied Arts & Technology 1385 Woodroffe Avenue OTTAWA Ontario K2G 1V8 Canada Fax No: (613) 727-7743 Dr J. Robert Prichard President University of Toronto 27 King's College Circle TORONTO Ontario M5S 1A1 Canada

Dr. Marsha Hanen President University of Winnipeg 515 Portage Avenue WINNIPEG Manitoba R3B 2E9

Dr Lorna Marsden President Wilfrid Laurier University 75 University Avenue, West WATERLOO Ontario N2L 3C5 Canada

The President Alberta College Canada Fax No: (403) 424-6371

The President Alberta Vocational College Canada Fax No: (403) 297-4081

The President Assiniboine Community College 1430 Victoria Avenue East BRANDON Manitoba R7A 2A9 Canada (204) 726-6600 Fax No: (204) 727-6196

The President Aurora College Canada Fax No: (403) 872-4730

The President Cabot College of Applied Arts, Technology & Continuing Education Prince Philip Drive Campus ST JOHN'S Newfoundland A1C 5P7 Canada Fax No: (709) 758-7505

Mr/Ms Dawns Contract Training & International Education Department Camosun College Landsdowne Campus VICTORIA British Columbia V8P 5J2 Canada (604) 370-3151 Fax No: (604) 370-3689

The President Capilano College Canada Fax No: (604) 984-4985

The President Cegep Heritage College Canada Fax No: (819) 778-7364

The President Champlain Regional College Canada Fax No: (819) 564-3639 Mr Henry Arthur Director BCIT International British Columbia Institute of Technolgy 3700 Willingdon Avenue BURNABY British Columbia V5G 3H2 Canada Tel: Fax No: (604) 434-6243

The President Cambrian College Canada Fax No: (705) 524-7329

Ms Barbara Sauro International & Aboriginal Projects Canadore College of Applied Arts & Technology P.O. Box 5001 NORTH BAY Ontario P1B 8K9 Canada Tel: (705) 474-7601 ext 5425 Fax No: (705) 474-4165

The President Cegep John Abbott College Canada Fax No: (514) 457-4730

The President Centennial Colege Canada Fax No: (416) 439-7358

Mr Jim Windsor President College of New Caledonia 3330 - 22nd Avenue PRINCE GEORGE British Columbia V2N 1P8 Canada (604) 562-2131 Fax No: (604) 561-5829

Mr Jim Windsor Columbia Colege Canada Fax No: (604) 439-0548

The President Confederation College of Applied Arts & Technology Canada Fax No: (807) 577-2766

The President Cypress Hills Regional College Canada Fax No: (306) 773-2384

The President Durham College of Applied Arts & Technology Canada Fax No: (905) 721-3180

The President Eastern College of Applied Arts, Technology & Continuing Education PO Box 3600 CLARENVILLE Newfoundland A0E 1J0 Canada Fax No: (709) 466-2316

The President Fanshawe College of Applied Arts & Technology 1460 Oxford Street East LONDON Ontario N5V 1W2 Canada Fax No: (519) 452-3570 The President Conestoga College of Applied Arts & Technology Canada Fax No: (519) 748-3522

The President Cumberland Regional College Canada Fax No: (306) 862-4940

The President Douglas College Canada Fax No: (604) 547-5095

The President East Kootenay Community College Canada Fax No: (604) 489-1790

The President Fairview College PO Box 3000 FAIRVIEW Alberta T0H 1L0 Canada Fax No: (403) 835-6698

The President George Brown College of Applied Arts & Technology Canada Fax No: (416) 867-1527

Mr John Bobette International Education & Training Georgian College of Applied Arts & Technology 1 Georgian Drive BARRIE Ontario L4M 3X9 Canada (705) 728-1968 ext 1218 Fax No: (705) 722-5158

The President Grant MacEwan Community College Canada Fax No: (403) 497-5045

The President Humber College of Applied Arts & Technology 205 Humber College Boulevarde TORONTO Ontario M9W 5L7 Canada Fax No: (416) 675-1483

The President Kemptville College of Agricultural Technology Canada Fax No: (613) 258-8384

The President Kwantlen University College 12666 - 72nd Avenue PO Box 9030 SURREY British Columbia V3W 2M8 Canada Fax No: (604) 599-2068

Mr Terry Welker International Development Officer Lakeland College 5705 - 47 Avenue VERMILION Alberta T9X 1K5 Canada (403) 853-8605 Fax No: (403) 853-2752

The President

Grande Prairie Regional College Canada Fax No: (403) 5399-2888

The President Holland College Canada Fax No: (902) 566-9505

Dr W.S. Sam Shaw President Keewatin Community College P.O. Box 3000 THE PAS Manitoba R9A 1M7 Canada Tel: (204) 627-8542 Fax No: (204) 623-7316

The President Keyano College Canada Fax No: (403) 791-1555

The President Labrador College Canada Fax No: (709) 896-9533

The President Lambton College of Applied Arts & Technology 1457 London Road SARNIA Ontario N7I 7K4 Canada (519) 542-7751 Fax No: (519) 542-7982

Mr Gordon McNeil Director, International Education Langara College 100 West 49th Avenue VANCOUVER British Columbia V5Y 2Z6 Canada (604) 323-5661 Fax No: (604) 323-5680

The President Lethbridge Community College Canada Fax No: (403) 320-1461

The President Malaspina University College Canada Fax No: (604) 755-8725

K
Ms Patti Martineau
Manager
International Programs
Medicine Hat College
299 College Drive SE
MEDICINE HAT Alberta T1A 3Y6
Canada
Fax No: (403) 527-0459

The President Mount Royal College Fax No: (403) 240-6698

Ms Heather Hathaway International Coordinator New Brunswick Community College - Woodstock PO Box 1175 WOODSTOCK New Brunswick E0J 2B0 Canada (506) 453-3641 Fax No: (506) 328-8426 The President LaSalle College Canada Fax No: (514) 939-2015

Mr Douglas Auld President Loyalist College of Applied Arts & Technology PO Box 4200 BELLEVILLE Ontario K3N 5B9 Canada (613) 967-1913 ext 2000 Fax No: (613) 967-5804

The President Marianopolis College Canada Fax No: (514) 931-8790

Mr Keith J. Nixon Dean, International Education Mohawk College of Applied Arts & Technology Fennell Avenue and West 5th HAMILTON Ontario L8N 3T2 Canada (905) 575-2447 Fax No: (905) 575-2362

Ms Anne-Marie Gillis Coordinator of International Education New Brunswick Community College - Saint John PO Box 2270 ST JOHN'S New Brunswick E2L 3V1 Canada (506) 658-6600 Fax No: (506) 658-6792

The President New Brunswick Community College - Miramichi Canada Fax No: (506) 778-6001

The President New Brunswick Community College - Moncton Canada Fax No: (506) 856-2665

The President Niagara College of Applied Arts & Technology Canada Fax No: (416) 735-5365

The President North West Regional College Canada Fax No: (306) 445-1575 Mr Gerald Ingersoll New Brunswick Community College - St. Andrews 99 Augustus Street ST ANDREWS New Brunswick E0G 2X0 Canada (506) 529-5020 Fax No: (506) 529-5039

The President Nicola Valley Institute of Technology Canada Fax No: (604) 378-3332

The President North Island College Canada Fax No: (604) 334-5018

The President Northern College of Applied Arts & Technology Canada Fax No: (705) 235-7279 The President Northern Lights College Canada Fax No: (604) 782-6069

The President Northern Alberta Institute of Technology Canada Fax No: (403) 471-8583

The President Northwest Community College Canada Fax No: (604) 635-3511 Mr Bill McLaughlin Chief Executive Officer Northlands College Box 1000 AIR RONGE Saskatchewan S0J 3G0 Canada (306) 425-4480 Fax No: (306) 425-3002

The President Notre-Dame Secretarial College Canada Fax No: (514) 935-8401

The President Nova Scotia Community College Canada Fax No: (902) 424-0717

The President Nunavut Arctic College Canada Fax No: (819) 979-4119

The President Olds College Fax No: (403) 566-4698

The President Parkland Regional College Canada Fax No: (306) 728-2576

The President Red River Community College Canada Fax No: (204) 632-9661

The President Ridgetown College of Agricultural Technology Main Street RIDGETOWN Ontario NOP 2C0 Canada (519) 674-1520 Fax No: (519) 674-1530 Dr Bernie McDonald Interim Principal Nova Scotia Agricultural College Canada Fax No: (902) 897-9399

The President Okanagan University College

Canada Fax No: (604) 470-6009

The President Open Learning Agency Canada Fax No: (604) 431-3381

The President Prairie West Regional College Canada Fax No: (306) 948-2094

The President Red Deer College Fax No: (403) 340-8940

The President Saint John School of Nursing Canada Fax No: (506) 648-6639

The President Saskatchewan Institute of Applied Science & Technology Canada Fax No: (306) 933-7334

The President Sault College of Applied Arts & Technology Canada Fax No: (705) 759-1319

The President Seneca College of Applied Arts & Technology Fax No: (416) 491-3081 The President

Saskatchewan Indian Institute of Technologies Canada Fax No: (306) 244-1391

The President Selkirk CollegeCollege Canada Fax No: (604) 365-3929

The President Sheridan College Canada Fax No: (905) 815-4043

The President Sir Sandford Fleming College of Applied Arts & Technology Canada Fax No: (705) 749-5540

The President Southeast Regional College Fax No: (306) 848-2517

The President St. Claire College of Applied Arts & Technology Canada Fax No: (519) 972-3811 Mr Leonard Harapiak Director South Winnipeg Technical Centre 130 Henlow Bay WINNIPEG Manitoba R3Y 1G4 Canada (204) 989-6500 Fax No: (204) 488-4152

Mr Dale Landry President Southern Alberta Institute of Technology 1301 - 16 Avenue N.W. CALGARY Alberta T2M 0L4 Canada (403) 284-8581 Fax No: (403) 284-8940

The President St. Lawrence College Fax No: (613) 345-4721

The President The Michener Institute Canada Fax No: (416) 596-3180

The President The Fisheries & Marine Institute of Memorial University of Newfoundland Canada Fax No: (709) 778-0346

The President University College of the Fraser Valley Fax No: (604) 853-9990

The President Vanier College Canada Fax No: (514) 744-7023

The President Yellowquill College Fax No: (204) 857-4272

Dr Roderick Fraser President University of Alberta 1A University Campus NW EDMONTON Alberta T6G 2E1 Canada (403) 492-2958 (403) 492-1488 The President The University College of the Cariboo Canada Fax No: (604) 828-5086

Ms Anne Hancock Vice-Principal, Administrative The Bishop Strachan College 298 Lonsdale Road TORONTO Ontario M4V 1X2 Canada (416) 483 4325 Fax No: (416) 481 5632

Mr/Ms S. Lucas Vancouver Community College 1155 E. Broadway VANCOUVER British Columbia V5N 5T9 Canada (604) 871-7158 Fax No: (604) 871-7451

Mr/Ms D. Dollard Westviking College of Applied Arts, Technology & Continuing Education PO Box 5400 STEPHENVILLE Newfoundland A2N 2Z6 Canada (709) 643-7702 Fax No: (709) 643-7808

The President Yukon College Fax No: (403) 668-8890

Ms Elke Christianson Manager, Alumni Branches Alumni Association University of Alberta 450 Athabasca Hall EDMONTON Alberta T6G 2E8 Canada (403) 492-3224 (403) 492-1568

Dr Lee Clark Anderson Director (Interim) Office of International Activities Brandon University 270 - 18th Street BRANDON Manitoba R7A 6A9 Canada (204) 727-7477 (204) 729-9016

Mr Brian Tennyson Director Centre for International Studies University College of Cape Breton PO Box 5300 SYDNEY Nova Scotia B1P 6L2 Canada (902) 539-5300 (902) 562-0119

Mr Frederick Francis Deputy Director Centre for International Academic Cooperation Concordia University 7141 Sherbrooke Street West MONTREAL Quebec H4B 1R6 Canada (514) 848 4988

Mr Bill Warden Office of the Executive Director International Centre University of Calgary 2500 University Drive NW CALGARY Alberta T2N 1N4 Canada (403) 220-4509 (403) 289-0171

Professor J.C.M. Shute Director Centre for International Programs University of Guelph Level4, University Centre GUELPH Ontario N1G 2W1 Canada (519) 824-4120 (519) 767-0756

mr I. Joseph Byrne Assistant Registrar Director, Student Recruitment & Promotion Memorial University of Newfoundland P.O. Box 4200, Station C ST JOHN'S Newfoundland A1C 5S7 Canada (709) 737-8212 (709) 737-2059 Ms Diane Mills

International Student Exchange Officer Study Abroad Programme Bishop's University College Street LENNOXVILLE Quebec J1M 1Z7 Canada (819) 822-9600 ext 2267 (819) 822-9661

Professor D.R.F. Taylor Assistant Vice President (International) Carleton International Carleton University 1506 Dunton Tower OTTAWA Ontario K1S 5B6 Canada (613) 520-2519 (613) 520-2521

Ms K. Ann Vroom Director Office of Alumni Affairs Concordia University 1455, Maisonneuve Blvd. West MONTREAL Quebec H3G 1M8 Canada (514) 848-3818 (514) 848-2826

Ms Marian Gray Director (Acting) Alumni Office Dalhousie University Macdonald Building HALIFAX Nova Scotia B3H 3J5 Canada (902) 494-2071 (902) 494-1141

Mr S. Keith Ward Vice-President Academic The King's University College 9125 - 50 Street EDMONTON Alberta T6B 2H3 Canada (403) 465-3500 (403) 465-3534

Ms Wendy Gerhard Director Laurentian University Laurentian University of Sudbury 935 Lake Ramsey Rd SUDBURY Ontario P3E 2C6 Canada (705) 675-1151 ext 1556 (705) 671-3833

Mr Al Carfagnini Executive Director University Relations & Student Services Nipissing University 100 CollegeDrive NORTH BAY Ontario P1B 8L7 Canada (705) 474-3450 (705) 474-1947

Mr Robert Zuback Manager Alumni Services Lakehead University 955 Oliver Road THUNDER BAY Ontario P7B 5E1 Canada (807) 343-8200 (807) 343-8075

Dr Jean-Michel Beillard Vice-Rector University Relations and Development University of Ottawa PO Box 450, Station A OTTAWA Ontario K1N 6N5 Canada (613) 562-5807 (613) 562-5103

Mr N.A. Rubidge Vice-President, Administration Royal Roads University 2005 Sooke Road VICTORIA British Columbia V9B 5Y2 Canada (604) 391-2511 (604) 391-2500

Mr Robert F. Eagle Director Research Services Technical University of Nova Scotia P.O. Box 1000 HALIFAX Nova Scotia B3J 2X4 Canada (902) 420-7794 (902) 420-7551

Mr John Schofield International Liasion Officer and Dean of Arts & Science University of Victoria PO Box 3045 VICTORIA British Columbia V8W 3P4 Canada Mrs Gwen Wojda Coordinator Distance Education Lakehead University 955 Oliver Road THUNDER BAY Ontario P7B 5E1 Canada (807) 343-8200 (807) 343-8075

Ms Sheena Trimble International Programmes Administrator University of Northern British Columbia 3333 University Way PRINCE GEORGE British Columbia V2N 4Z9 Canada (604) 960-5706 (604) 960-5546

Mr Innes van Nostrand Director Alumni Office Queen's University at Kingston 99 University Avenue KINGSTON Ontario o K7L 3N6 Canada (613) 5455-2200 (613) 545-6838

Ms Marsha McEachrane Associate Ryerson International Ryerson Polytechnic University 350 Victoria Street TORONTO Ontario M5B 2K3 Canada (416) 979-5026 416) 9795352

Ms Cynthia Bennett Awe Program Administrator Trent International Program Trent University P.O. Box 4800, Station Main PETERBOROUGH Ontario K9J 7B8 Canada (705) 748-1314 (705) 748-1626

Mr/Ms B. Dalin Jameson Executive Assistant to the President University of Western Ontario 1151 Richmond Street LONDON Ontario N6A 5B8 Canada (519) 661-3106 (519) 661-3139

Ms Helen Luckman Associate Alumni Director University of Western Ontario 1151 Richmond Street LONDON Ontario N6A 5B8 Canada (519) 661-3106 (519) 661-3139

Dr R. Julian Cattaneo Associate Vice-Presient, Research, and Director, Office of International Affairs University of Windsor 401 Sunset Avenue WINDSOR Ontario N9B 3P4 Canada (519) 253-4232

Mr Greg Macdonald Executive Director, External Relations Simon Fraser University BURNABY British Columbia V5A 1S6 Canada

Dr Maria Cioni Director York International York University 4700 Keele Street NORTH YORK Ontario M3J 1P3 Canada

Dr Gary A. Warner Director McMaster Intenational McMaster University John Hodgins Engineering Building, Room A414 HAMILTON Ontario L8S 4L7 Canada (905) 525-9140 ext 24340 (905) 522-3391 Dr Rowland Smith Vice-President: Academic Wilfrid Laurier University 75 University Avenue, West WATERLOO Ontario N2L 3C5 Canada (519) 884-1970 (519) 886-9351

Dr Christine Liotta Director, Alumni Relations Simon Fraser University BURNABY British Columbia V5A 1S6 Canada

Mr Randall Martin Director International & Exchange Student Services Simon Fraser University BURNABY British Columbia V5A 1S6 Canada

Ms Lucy Fromowitz Director Alumni Affairs York University 4700 Keele Street NORTH YORK Ontario M3J 1P3 Canada

Participating Institutions - Australia

Mr David Pask Director Victoria College 232 Flinders Lane Melbourne VIC 3000 Australia (613) 9650-7977 (613)9650-3779 equiries@viccollege.edu.au

Mr Trevor Gallagher Director TAFE International Western Australia Level 5, 1 Mill Street Perth WA 6000 Australia (619) 320-3725 (619) 320-3700

Ms Roselynn Lang Study Abroad and Exchange Coordinator International Office Murdoch University Murdoch WA 6150 Australia (619) 360-2881 (619) 310-5090 lang@csusun1.murdoch.edu.au

Mr Jim Mitchell Director of Admissions & International Students Office University of Western Australia Nedlands Perth WA 6907 Australia (619) 380-2259 (619) 382-4071 jmitchell@acs.uwa.edu.au

Mr Ross Taylor Director, Office of International Programs University of Western Sydney - Macarthur P.O. Box 555 Campbelltown NSW 2560 Australia (614) 620-3397 (614) 626-6677 ross.taylor@uws.edu.au Mr John Boyce Director International Services RMIT International Pty Ltd Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology Level 4 Tivoli Court 239 Bourke Street Melbourne VIC 3000 Australia (613) 9660-5156 (613) 9663-6925 johnboyce@rmit.edu.au

Mr Geof Gale Managing Director South East Metropolitan College of TAFE Directorate Office Hayman Road Bentley WA 6102 Australia (619) 470-0682 (619) 470-0688 galege@devetwa.edu.au

Mr David Hough Director ECU Business International Edith Cowan University Churchlands Campus, Pearson Street Churchlands WA 6018 Australia (619) 273-8614 (619) 273-8754 D.Hough@cowan.edu.au

Ms Fiona McKenzie Business Manager Australian College of English 237 Oxford Street Bondi Junction NSW 2022 Australia (612) 389-0133 (612) 389-6880

Dr Joseph D. Relich Associate Director - Academic, International Centre University of Western Sydney -Nepean PO Box 10 Kingswood NSW 2747 Australia (612) 685-9337 (612) 685-9298 j.relich@nepean.uws.edu.au

Mr Miles Mackenzie Principal Sydney College of English 1st Floor, 35-39 Mountain Street Broadway Sydney NSW 2007 Australia (612) 281-5211 (612) 281-5208

Ms Janet Stewart Manager, Commercial Development TAFE NSW Ground Floor, 601 Pacific Highway St Leonards NSW 2065 Australia 008 817 507 (612) 9965-6095

Mr Anthony Pollock General Manager Monash International Pty Ltd Monash University 26 Sir John Monash Dve Caulfield VIC 3145 Australia (613) 9903-1008 (613) 9903-1010 Anthony.Pollock@adm.monash.edu.au Mr Tony Ellis Principal Queensland Commercial College 3rd Level, 217 George Street Brisbane QLD 4000 Australia (617) 3229-8955 (617) 3229-0639

Dr D. G. Blight Chief Executive **IDP Education Australia Ltd** 1 Geils Court PO Box 2006 Deakin ACT 2601 Australia (616) 285-8222 (616) 285-3036 denisb@idp.edu.au Ms Patricia E. Meaney Director, International Policy and Programs External Affairs Office The University of Queensland St Lucia Campus Brisbane QLD 4072 Australia (617) 3365-1978 (617) 3365-1683 p.meaney@mailbox.uq.oz.au

Mr Stephen Bramah Deputy Director Illawarra Institute of Technology 3 Rowland Avenue Wollongong NSW 2500 Australia (614) 226-4723 (614) 226-4748

Mr Ray Seary Manager Southern Sydney Institute of TAFE Level 5, Civic Tower 66-72 Rickard Road Bankstown NSW 2200 Australia (612) 9796-5436 (612) 9790-7003

Mr Gordon Pynt Director Chalmers Business College 5th Floor, 152 Elizabeth Street Melbourne VIC 3000 Australia (613) 9654-5099 (613) 9654-5243

Mr John Rowling General Manager Australian International Education Foundation DEET GPO Box 9880 Canberra ACT 2601 Australia (616) 240-7788 (616) 240-7111

Ms Michelle Stewart Publicity Officer Queensland College of English PO Box 222, Roma Street Brisbane QLD 4003 Australia (617) 3236-2222 (617) 3236-2000

Mr Cam McConnell Manager - Students TAFE Queensland International 14 Floor, 145 Eagle Street Locked Bag 2234 Brisbane QLD 4001 Australia (617) 3237-0007 (617) 3235-4416 tafe-qld-intl@devetir.qld.gov.au

Ms Sandra Woolacott Manager International Education Unit ACT Department of Education & Training PO Box 1584 Tuggeranong ACT 2900 Australia (616) 205-9176 (616) 205-9340

Mr Peter King Manager Queensland Education Overseas Unit Department of Education, Queensland PO Box 50 Brisbane Albert Street QLD 4002 Australia (617) 224-6952 (617) 224-6973

Mr Kieran O'Brian Director - International Relations Queensland University of Technology 2 George Street GPO Box 2434 Brisbane QLD 4001 Australia (617) 3264-1699 (617) 3221-0313 http://www.qut.edu.au Mr Ian G. Harris Director, International Education Office The Australian National University Canberra ACT 0200 Australia (616) 249-4643 (616) 249-5550 Ian.Harris@anu.edu.au

Dr Colin Marsh Dean of Academic Studies Australian Institute for University Studies Shenton Avenue Joondalup WA 6027 Australia (619) 300-1466 (619) 300-1462

A/Prof Jeanette Hacket Director International Office Curtin University of Technology GPO Box U1987 Perth WA 6001 Australia (619) 351-3064 (619) 351-2605 hacketj@decaf.curtin.edu.au

